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Corporate Profile

Acasti is an emerging biopharmaceutical company focused on the research, development and commercialization of
new therapies for abnormalities in blood lipids, referred to as dyslipidemia, and the treatment and prevention of
cardiovascular disorders. Acasti's products are derived from krill oil.

CaPre®, currently Acasti's sole drug product candidate, is being developed to address the prevention and treatment
of cardiometabolic disorders, including hypertriglyceridernia, which is characterized by abnormally high plasma levels
of triglycerides. CaPre® is currently being evaluated in two Phase |l clinical trials initiated in 2011 in Canada. Acasti
intends to file an investigational new drug submissicn to provide for a Phase 11l clinical trial for CaPre® in the United
States under the guidelines and rules of the U.5. Food and Drug Administration ["FDA").

Onemia™ is Acasti's sole commercialized product and has been marketed in the United 5tates since 2011 as a

*medical food”. Onemia™ is only administered under the supervision of a physician and is intended for the dietary
management of illnesses associated with omega-3 phospholipids deficiency related to cardiometabolic disorders,

Learn More

To learn maore about Acasti, visit the Company’s website at www.acastipharma.com. Here you will find business and
product information along with investor material, including annual reports, quarterly reports and press releases.
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Message to Shareholders

Dear Shareholders:

Since being founded in 2008, Acasti has continucusly focused on value creation and this trend continued throughout
our most recent fiscal year, with the Company achieving a number of important milestones. Most importantly, we
remained focused on the future, expanding the commercialization of our medical food product Onemia™ and
making significant progress in the clinical development of our drug candidate CaPre®. We also invested strategically,
announcing our intention to make Acasti royalty free, something that should further enhance shareholder value. In
addition, we expanded our investor base and international presence by listing on the MASDAQ. As we build on past
successes and lay the groundwork for future growth, Acasti's position grows stronger and more promising each year.

Before going further, we would like to first reflect on a tragic incident which affected the lives of many. On
Movember 8, 2012 an accidental explosion and fire rendered our parent company, Neptune Techrnologies and
Bioressources’, production plant in Sherbrooke, Québec, Canada inoperable, resulting in three employee fatalities
and injury to others, Acasti's business activities were unaffected by the incident, Material for Onemia™ and CaPre®
had already been produced and was being stored in facilities cutside of Meptune’s plant. As such, the marketing and
sale of Gnemia™ and the ongoing Phase |1 clinical trials of CaPre® continued as planned,

The Board of Directors, management and employees of Acasti would once again like to express their sincere
condolences to all those who were touched by this heartbreaking event. It will remain a sad chapter in gur history.
We would also like to acknowledge all of our Acasti and Neptune colleagues. They worked tirelessly in the tense
hours and weeks that followed after the disaster to ensure the well-being of all those affected, while at the same
time implementing a recovery action plan to mitigate the negative consequences. Their quick acticns enabled the
Neptune family to effectively manage through a very difficult period amd put In mation key initiatives for a strong
recovery and continued market momentum.

Financial Highlights

Sales for the year ending February 28, 2013 totaled 5724,000 and were derived entirely from the commercialization
of Onemia™., In the prior year, Acasti generated revenues from research contracts carried out for Neptune and from
initial sales of Onemia™ of 5116000 and $10,000, respectively. The ongoing success of Onemia™ is helping to
partially finance our research and development program, along with administrative and commercialization costs,
which collectively represent Acasti's principal expenditures.

Research and development [RED) expenses were 53.0 million for the year, down slightly from 53.1 million in the
prior year, The company recorded a net loss of $6.9 million, compared to a net loss of $6.5 million in preceding year.
As of February 28, 2013 Acasti had $4.8 million in cash and short-term investments. A detailed financial and
business review can be found in the accompanying Financial Statements and Management Discussion and Analysis,

Royalty Free

Acasti has entered into a prepayment agreement with Neptune to pay in advance all future royalties owed under its
exclusive technology license agreement. The transaction is subject to approval by Acasti's disinterested
shareholders at the next annual sharehclders meeting to be held on June 27, 2013. The prepayment amounts to
approximately 515.53 million and will be paid through the issuance of 6.75 million Acasti shares. Being royalty free
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will allow Acasti to preserve cash of at least 5700,000 annually, the minimum current royalty payment. As well, it
should bring more flexibility and strength in negotiating deals with potential business partners and remove a
valuation cverhang.

Extending Investor Visibility and Reach

In January 2013, Acasti increased its visibility with investors by listing its shares on the NASDAQ Capital Market under
the symbel “ACST™, This listing, which is in addition to cur presence on the TSX Venture, should help increase share
liquidity and broaden our base of potential institutional and retail investors, many of which are restricted from
investing in shares that trade on foreign exchanges. This was a significant milestone and reflects our commitment to
grow the Company and expand cur profile within the bicpharmmaceutical space.

Moving to the Next Level of Care

During the year, Acasti continued to build on past successes, further rolling out Onemia™ and dewveloping its drug
candidate CaPre®, Both products focus on the treatment of chronic cardiovascular conditions and are drawn from a
highly purified cmega-3 phosphalipid concentrate derived from kil cil.

Onemia™

Cnemia™, our medical food product, has been developed for the specific dietary management of illnesses associated
with omega-3 phospholipid deficiencies related to cardiometabolic disorders. It is now available behind the counter
{by doctor's recommendation only) and through a distribution network across the U5, During the year we signed a
non-exclusive agreement with a U.5. medical food distributor. We expect interest in Onemia™ to continue to build
as dectors’ confidence in fts benefits increase.

We have conducted voluntary surveys with the medical community and have received encouraging information
regarding Onemia's™ efficacy in treating varicus cardiovascular conditions, Given that our prescription drug
candidate CaPre® is a highly purified omega-3 phospholipid concentrate derived from krill oil, we are hopeful this
paves the way for it to be used as a safe and effective product of choice in a multi-billion dellar market.

CaPre®

Development of CaPre®, our prescription drug candidate addressing the prevention and treatment of
hypertriglyceridemia, a condition which denotes abnormally high levels of triglycerides, and which is a major factor
in cardiovascular disease, also continues to advance. Cardiometabolic conditions are considered amang the leading
health problems worldwide, so there is significant potential if CaPre® is successfully brought to market.

We continue to make good progress with our two Phase 1l clinical trials, which include an open label, dose ranging
study (COLT), along with a randomized, double blind, placebo-controlled study [(TRIFECTA). Both trials are designed
to evaluate the effect of different daily doses of CaPre®™ on patients with moderate to very high triglyceride levels.
Patient recruitment for the COLT study has now been completed and we are looking farward to the final report in
the summer of 2013, Results for the TRIFECTA study are expected to be available during the first half of 2014,

To date, interim results of our COLT trial confirm our confidence in CaPre's® potential success, including an
important and statistically significant triglyceride reduction as compared to standard of care. In addition to lowering
triglycerides, we are also seeing the ability to lower LDOL (bad cholesterol) levels, while elevating HOL [good
cholesterol), all of which are key in the management of chronic cardicvascular diseases. Moreower, a blind interim
analysis in the TRIFECTA trial reported no safety concerns, indicating that CaPre® is a safe product.
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On top of this positive data, we continue to see a number of other benefits. These include greater efficacy at lower
dosage levels than other products currently on the market, the possibility to potentiate patients who are on statins
and no detrimental side effects. Golng forward, CaPre® could also be locked at as a possible alternative treatment
for statin intolerant individuals. We are hopeful CaPre® will become a multi-faceted drug, whereby medical
practiticners can tailor the dosage levels to a patient’s need and use it separately or in combination with statin
therapy.

In conjunction with our Phase Il clinical trials, we are moving forward to finalize plans for an Investigational Mew
Drug (IND) filing with the U.5. Food and Cvug Administration (FDA) for a Phase Il clinical study in the USA.
Worldwide the entire omega-3 consumer market is a multi-billion dollar, double-digit growth market. Prescription
omega-3 drugs are a meaningful part of this market and as the health benefits of omega-3 phospholipids become
more viable and understocd we believe Acasti has a very compelling drug candidate for consumers to take
advantage of its benefits.

Intellectual Property

Acasti’s |P estate is strong and valuable. In addition, the Company benefits from patent protection as a result of its
worldwide license agreement with Meptune. Some of these patents have been awarded recently, sowe have a very
leng life to cur patent estate.,

Together with Neptune, we not only have application and process patents, we have very important compasition
patents, which protect the exclusivity of our products. These are very significant to us and we are hopeful that all
industry members recognize and respect a company’s intellectual property, hence maintaining strong ethical
industry business standards.

Currently, the U.5. International Trade Commission (ITC) is investigating alleged patent infringements by a number of
Neptune's competitors regarding the importation inte the United States and sale of certain omega-3 extracts and
products that infringe certain of cur patents, Acasti and Meptune have requested that the ITC ban the sale of
infringing products. We believe we are well positioned for a positive cutcome in the investigation, which would
further highlight the strength of cur patent estate. The ITC decision will be rendered during 2014 and will be
immediately enforeed, even if itis appealed.

Looking Forward

Acasti's position grows stronger every year, Going forward, we will continue to position ourselves for the future by
protecting our IP, investing strategically in R&D and building out our business to cement Acasti as a leader of
pharmaceutical omega-3 phespholipids.

A key focus going forward will be the completion of our Phase Il dinical trials for CaPre® and the continued
commercialization of Onemia™, Concurrently, we will finalize and submit our investigational new drug (IND] for a
Phase 11l elinical trial of CaPre® in the U.5., while securing third party manufacturers, including a Good Manufacturing
Practices (GMP) facility for production of CaPre®,

Acknowledgements

In clesing, we would like to single out the efforts of management and employees, who have proven their ability to
rise to new challenges, following the unfortunate plant explosion in November 2012, While capital investments are
the foundation for growth it is people who truly make a difference. Together, with the support of our Scientific
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Advisory Board and our Board of Directors, they have worked persistently to lay the groundwork for future growth.
Finally, we would like to thank cur shareholders for their steadfast support of the Company. We remain focused on
repaying this loyalty by continuing to bulld shareholder value threugh leadership and strong performance,

/%' O, Ronald Demis /3 Henri Harland /5 Xavler Harland
Dr. Ronald Denis Henri Harland Xavier Harland
Chairman of the Board President and Chief Executive Officer  Chief Financial Officer
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## Pharma

MANAGEMENT ANALYSIS OF THE FINANCIAL SITUATION
AND OPERATING RESULTS — YEARS ENDED FEBRUARY 28,
2013 AND FEBRUARY 29, 2012

Introduction

This man sgement’s discussion and analysis ("MDBAY) is presented in order to provide the reader with an overview of the
financial results and changes to the financial position of Acasti Pharma Inc. (*Acasti® or the *Corporation”) as at February
28, 201 3 and for the year then ended. This MD&A explains the material varistions in the financial statements of eperations,
financial position and cash flows of Acasti for the years ended February 28, 2013 and February 29, 2012 The Corporation
effectively commenced active operations with the transfer of an exclusive worldwide license from its parent corporation,
Neptune Technologies & Bloressources Inc. ["Neptune'], In August 2008. The Corperation was inactive prior tothat date.

This MD&A, completed on May 21, 2013, must be readin conjunction with the Corporation's financial statements for the
years enced February 28, 2013 and February 239, 2012. The Corperation’s financial statements were prepared in accordan ce
with International Finencing Reporting Standards ("IFRS"), & Issued by the Intemational Accounting Standards Board The
Corporation’s financial results are published in Canadian dollars. All amounts appesring in this MO&A are in thousands of
Canadian dallars, except shareand per share amounts or unless ctherwise indicated.

Additional information on the Corporation can be found on the SEDAR website at woanw sedar com and on the EDGAR
website ab wwaw secgovfedaar shirl under Acasti Pharma inc.

On March 31, 2011, following the submisden of an initial listing application, the Class A shares of the Corporation were
listed for trading on the T5X Venture Exchange under the ticker symbol "ARCY, In lanuary 2013, the Corporation had its
Class A shares listed on the MASDAC Capital Market exchange, under the syrmbal "ACST".

Eorward | eoking Statem ents

This MD&A contains certain inform ation that may constitute forward locking infarmation within the meaning of Canadian
securities laws and forward-looking statements within the meaning of LS. federal securities laws, both of which Acasti
refers 1o as farward-locking infarmatien. Forward-looking information can be identified by the use of terms such as “may”,
“will*, “should”, “expect”, “plan”, “anticipate”, “believe”, "intend”, “estimate”, "predict”, “potential’, “continue” or other
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MANAGEMENT ANALYSS OF THE FINANCIAL SITUATION AND OFERATING RESULTS

similar expressions concerning matters that are nat statements about the present or historical facts, Forward-looking
infarmation in this MD&A includes, but is not limited to, information about:

Acasti"s ability to conduct current and new clinical triaks for Its preduct candidate, including the timing and results
of these clinical trials;

Acasti"s ability to commerdialize its products and product candidate;

Acastl"s abllity to secure third-party manufacturer arrangements to provide Acastl with sufficlent raw materials for
its operations, including, but not limited to, Acasti's ability to retain a third-party to manufacture CaPre® under
good manufacturing practice {“GMP”) standards;

Acast!s ability to obtaln and maintain regulatory approval of CaPre®™: and

Acastl’s expectations regarding [ts financlal performance, Including its revenues, expenses, gross margins, lquidity,
capital resources and capital expenditures.

Although the forward-looking Information s based upon what Acastl belleves are reasonable assumptions, no person
should place undue rellance on such information since actual results may wary materially from the forward-locking
infarmation.

In addition, the forward-locking Information Is subject to a number of known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other
factors, including those deccribed in this MD&A under the heading "Risk Factors”, many of which are beyond the
Corporation’s control, that could cause actual results and developments to differ materially from those that are disclosed in
or implied by the forward-locking information, Including, without limitation:

the success of current and future clinical trials by the Corporation;
the successful commercialization of CaPre® and Onemia™;
the Corporation's history of net losses and Inability to achleve profitability;

the Carporation’s reliance on third parties for the manufacture, supply and distribution of its products and for the
supply of raw materials, including the ability to find a third party to produce CaPre® under GMP standards;

the Corperation’s reliance on a limited number of distribution partners for Onemia™;

the Corperation’s ability to manage its growth efficiently;

the Corperation’s ability to further penetrate core or new markets;

the Corperation’s ability to attract and retain skilled labour;

the Cornperation’s ability to attract, hire and retain key management and personnel;

the Corporation's ability to achieve its publicly announced milestones an time;

the Corporation's ability to successfully defend product llability lawsuits browght against it
intense competition from ather companies in the pharmaceutical and medical food industries; and

the Corperation’s ability to secure and defend its intellectual property rights.

Consequently, all the forward-locking infermation s qualified by this cautionary statement and there can be no guarantee
that the results or developments that the Corporation anticipates will be realized or, even if substantially realized, that they
will have the expected contequances of effects an the Corporation’s business, financial condition o results of eperations.
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MANAGEMENT ANALYSS OF THE FINANCIAL SITUATION AND OFERATING RESULTS

Accordingly, you should not place undue reliance on the forward-looking infarmation. Except as required by applicable law,
Acasti does not undertake to update or amend any forward-locking information, whether as a result of new information,
future events or otherwice. These forward-looking statements are made as of the date of this MDEA.

Business Overyiew

Acasti s an emerging biopharmaceutical company focused on the research, development and commercialization of new
therapies for abmorralities in blood lipids, referred to as dyslipidemia, and the treatment and prevention of cardiovascular
disorders. Acasti's products are derived from kil ail,

CaPre®, currently Acasti’s sole drug product candidate, is belng developed to address the prevention and treatment of
cardiometabalic disorders, including hypertriglyceridemia, which (s characterized by abnormally high plasma levels af
triglycerides. CaPre® is currently being evaluated in two Phase |1 clinical trials initiated in 2011 in Canada. Following the
completion of the trials, Acastl Intends to file an investigational new drug submission to conduct a Phase |1l clinical trial for
CaPre® in the United States under the guidelines and rules of the U5, Food & Drug Administration {“FDA"),

Onemia™ |s Acastls sole commerclalized product and has been marketed in the United States since 2011 a= a “medical
food”. Onemia™ is only administered under the supervision of a physician and is intended for the dietary management of
llinesses associated with omega-3 phospholipids deficiency related to cardiometabolic disorders,

Pursuant to the license agreement entered into with Neptune in August 2008, Acastl has been granted a license to use
Neptune's intellectual property rights for the development, distribution and sale of products for use in the human
cardiovascular flakd. The Corporation has to finance Its activities of research and develcpment, incuding its clinical studias.
The products developed by Acasti require the approval from the FDA before clinical studies are conducted and approval
from similar regulatory organizations before sales are authorized.

Dperations

During the year ended February 28, 2013, Acasti made progress in its research and pharmaceutical praduct development,
advancing with its prescription drug candidate, CaPre®, while expanding its commercdialization efforts for its medical food
Cinemia™, The following is a summary of the paricd's highlights.

Neptune, Acasti's parent company, reported that in the afternoon of Novemnber 8, 2012, an explosion and fire destroyed
Neptune's production plant located In Sherbrooke, Québec, Canada. Acasti announced that its day-to-day operations and
business were not interrupted 85 a result of this tragic event and that all CaPre® materials required for its twe Phasse I
clinical trials had already been produced and stored in facilities outside Neptune's affected plant. The production of CaPre®
and Onemila™ are a multi-step processes and Invochve a complex supply chaln. Acasti doas not own Its own manufacturing
facility for the production of krill oil, CaPre® and Onemia™, nor does it have plans 1o develop its own manufacturing
cperations for the commercial manufacture of its products in the foreseeable future. Acasti depends on third party
suppliers and manufacturers for all of s required raw materials and drug substance. Price to the explasion at Neptune’s
production plant, Acasti acquired substantially all of its krill ol for the production of CaPre® and Onemia™ from its parent
company, Neptune, However, due to the incident, Acasti is currently seeking out another provider of krill il to be used in
the future production of CaPre® and Onemia™. Furthermore, Acasti is currently searching for a third-party manufacturer to
produce CaPre® from current and future supply of krill oll. Because of FDA reguirements, any third party manufactures
retained by Acasti to produce CaPre® must ensure their compliance with GMP certification,

In December 2012, Acasti reported that it had enterad into a prepayment agreement with Neptune pursuant to which
Acasti has exercized its option under its license agreement dated August 7, 2008 entered into between Acasti and Meptune
to pay in advance all of the future royalties payable under the license agreement. (See section "Contractual Obligations,
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements and Commitments = License Agreement” for more Information concerning this
agreement).
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MANAGEMENT ANALYSS OF THE FINANCIAL SITUATION AND OFERATING RESULTS

Clinical Trials Update

During the fiscal year ended February 29, 2012, Acasti initlated two Phasze |l clinical trials: {f) the "TRIFECTA trial”, a
prospective randomized double-blind placebo controlled clinical study designed to evaluate the safety and efficacy of
CaPre® for the management of moderate to severe hypertriglyceridemia, for which the first patients were enrclled in
Ccrober 2011, and (ii} the “COLT trial”, a prospective randomized cpen-label clinical trial deslgned to assess the safety,
efficacy and dose resporse of CaPre® for patients with moderate to high hypertrighyeeridemnia, for which the first patients
were enrolled in December 2011. Acasti's clinical trials” recruitment has continued and progressed during the year ended
February 28, 2013.

In Dacember 2012, the TRIFECTA trial completed its first of two interim analysis. The review committee assembled to
evaluate the progress of the study rewviewed the interim analysis relative to drug safety and efficacy, and wnanimously
agreed, that the study shauld continue as planned. All committee members agreed that there were no conceming
romicity issues related to the intake of the drug candidate and that the signals of possible CaPre® therapeutic effect, noted
as reduction of trighyceride Imthe groups evaluated, were reassuring and clinlcally significant to allow the further
cantinuation of the study, As it = customary, the data was provided to the committee members blind, meaning that
the identity of the three groups was not revealed. Since the data showed no safety concerns and a significant dinical signal
the decision was made, by the committee, that it iz safe to continue the study and that there Is no need to unblind the data.

Also in December 2012, Acasti was able to obtain completed clinical data in its COLT trial from a group of patients who
completed an eight-week treatment with 2g CaPre® per day, which will not be included in the primary amalysis of the final
results. Test results of 23 patients were analysed of whom 19 had baseline triglyceride levels between 200 and S00mg/d|
{2.28 to 5.7 mmolfL}. The data showed a statistically significant 25% (p<0.05) reduction in trighrcerides after eight weeks of
treatment. Besides the important decrease in trighycerides, CaPre® also decreasad low density lipocprotein, very low density
lipoprotein and non-high density lipoprotein lipids and increased high density lipoprotein.

Maore recently, after the year ended February 28, 2013, in Mardh, preliminary clinlcal data from 157 patfents enrolled in the
COLT trial who have completed four weeks af treatment with 0.5, 1, 2 or 4 grams of CaPre® per day were sssessed and
CaPre® achieved a clinically important and statistically significant triglyceride reduction of up to 23% (p < 0,05) as compared
o the normal standard of care. The study assesses the effectiveness of CaPre® in patlents based on a realife, routine -
clinical setting since the standard of care may be any treatment the treating physicians considered as appropriate and
included life-style modification as well as lipid modifying agents such as statins and fibrates, that most of the patients
analysed (i.e. 36%) had baseline triglycarides between 200 and 500mgfdl {2.28 to 5.7 mmcl/fL) and that no serious adverse
events were reported, To date, the results of this preliminary analysis suggest that CaPre® ic safe and effective for the
reatment of patients with trighpoeride levels ranging from 200 to 500 mgfdL.

Onemia™

During the fiscal year ended February 28, 2013, Acasti furthered its business development and direct commercialization
activities In the U.5. for s medical food Onemia™. Acastl made ts first sales to a LS. medical food distributor, which
initigted distribution of Onemia™ through its U.S. nationwide network of physicians, under its own brand name, Also,
physicians initiated and/or continued their recommendations of Onemia™ for patients diagnosed with cardiomatabolic
disarders. Acasti expects continued sales of Onemia™ to provide short-term revenues that will contribute, in part, to
finance Acasti's research and development projects while establishing Acasti's ormega-3 phosphaolipids product eredentials,

The Corporation’s assets as at February 28, 2013 include cash and short-term investments for an amount of 54,785, mainly
generated by the exercise on September 14, 2011 of the rights issued by the Corporation to its shareholders as well as by
the net proceeds from a 51,979 private financing completed on February 12, 2012, The Corporation also has trade and
other receivables of 5451, receivable from a corporation under common contral of 550 and tax credits receivable for an
amount of 5336 as at February 28, 2013. The Corporation's Habilitles at February 28, 2013 are comprised primarily of
amounts due to Neptune of 51,211 and other creditors for 5707 a3 well as rovalties payable to Meptune for 5529, The
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MANAGEMENT ANALYSS OF THE FINANCIAL SITUATION AND OFERATING RESULTS

Corporation has Incurred operating losses and negative cash flows from operations since inception. As at February 28,
2013, the Corporation’s current liabilities and expected level of expenses in the research and development phase of its drug
candidate significantly exceed current assets. The Corporation plans to rely on the continued support of Neptune to pursue
its operations, including obtaining additional funding, if required. The continuance of this support is outside of the
Corporation’s controd, If the Corporation does not receive the continued financial support from its parent or the
Carporation does not ralse additional funds, it may not be able to reallze it assets and discharge [ts Hablilities in the normal
course of business, As a result, there exists 3 material uncertainty that casts substantial doubt about the Corporation’s
ability to continue as a going concern and, therefore, realize its assets and discharge its llabilities in the normal course of
business.

The financlal statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, which assumes the Corporation will continue its
operations in the foreseeable futwre and will be able to realize its assets and discharge its Habilites and commitments in the
ordinary course of business, These financial statements do not include amy adjustments to the carrying values and
classification of assets and liabilities and reported revenues and expenses that may be necessary if the going concern basis
wias not appropriate for these financlal statemeants.

The Corporation is subject to a number of risks associated with the successful development of new products and their
rmarketing, the conduct of its dinlcal studies and thelr results, the meeting of development objectives sat by Neptune In fts
license agreement, and the establishment of strategic alliances. The Corporation will have to finance its research and
development activities and its clinical studies. To achieve the objectives of its business plan, the Corporation plans to
establish strategic alliances, raise the necessary capital and make sales. It is anticipated that the products develaped by the
Carporation will require approval from the U5 Food and Drug Administration and eguivalent organizations in other
countries before their sale can be authorized,

SELECTED FINAMCIAL INFORMATION
[1n thausmnds of dellars, sxcapt parshars duta)

Three-month periods ended Years ended
February 28,  February 29, February 28, February 29, February 2B,
2013 2012 2013 2012 2011
$ 3 5 5 B
Revenue from sales 49 10 724 10 .
Adjustad EBITDA"! [1,361) {857} {4,350} {4,421} {2,258}
Net loss and comprebensive loss [1,953) 11,547} {5,892} {6,501} (3,008}

Net loss per share and diluted (o per

share [0.03) {0.02) {0.05) {0.10) {0.06)
Total assets 12,170 15,729 12,170 15,729 10,831
Working capital™ 3,413 7,597 3,413 7,597 (1,835}
Total equity 5,724 14,489 9,724 14,469 5,705
Book value per Class A share” 0.13 0.20 0.13 0.20 0,10
[1] The Adposted EBITDA (Eamings Bafore Interest, Taxes, Depreciation and E ) i p Tar ind jion purpodes only amd
represents a financial parformance measuremant tool mostly used in financial circles. Because than is no standard mwthod endorsed by IFRS
reqairements, the results are wnlikeby to be comparable to similar s preserted by other publc companbes. Acasti obtains ddjusted

ERITDA measurement by adding to net koos finance costs, depreciation and amortization and income taxes. Acasti akbo excludes the effects of
certain non-monetary transactions recorded, such as gain or loss on forelgn sxchangs and stock-based compensation, for &s Adpested EBITOA

calculation,

[2]  The werking capitalis p fari [ enly and rep @ of the Corpantion’s shert-term Financial haalth
magtly uted in financial circles. The werking cap®al it caleulited by subtracting current labilties from cotent ssieti. Because thete i ro
standard method sndomed by IFRS requiremants, the mauls may not be comparable to sendar meaturements predested by other publc
COIM P .

[3] The book vakse per share s presented for infformation purposes only and & cbtained by dividing the shareholden” equity by the number of
catrtanding Clyss A shares at the and of the period. Becauss thers it no mtandard method endoned by IFES requiremants, the retults may not
be comparable to similar measurements presented by other public companies.
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MANAGEMENT ANALYSS OF THE FINANCIAL SITUATION AND OFERATING RESULTS

RECOMCILIATION OF THE EARNINGS BEFORE INTEREST, TAXES, DEPRECIATION AND AMORTIZATION (ADJUSTED EBITDA)

& reconclliation of Adjusted EBITDA Is prasented in the table below. The Corporation uses adjusted financlal measures to
assess its operating performance, Securities regulations require that companies caution readers that earnings and other
measures adjusted to a basis other than IFRS do not have standardized meanings and are unlikely to be comparable to
similar measures used by other compandes. Accordingly, they should not be considered in [solation. The Corporation uses
Adjusted EBITDA to measure its performance from one period to the next without the veriation caused by certain
adjustments that could potentially distort the analysis of trends in cur operating performance, and because the Corporation
believes it provides meaningful information on the Corporation finencial condition and operating results.

Acasti obtains its Adjusted EBITDA measurement by adding to net loss, finance costs, depreciation and amortization and
Income taxes. Acasti also excludes the effects of certain non-monetary transactions recorded, such as gain or loss on
foreign exchange and stock-based compensation, from it Adjusted EBITDA calculation. The Corparation believes it is useful
o exclude these items as they are either non-cash expenses, items that cannct be influenced by management in the short
term, ar itemns that do not impact core operating performance. Excluding these items does not imply they are necessarily
ROMFECURTIng.

RECOMNCILIATION OF ADJUSTED EBITDA,
(i thousands of dollars, sxcept per share data)

Three-month periods ended Years ended
February 28, February 29, February 28, February 29, February 28,
2013 012 2013 2012 2011
5 ] 5 5 5
Netloss {1,953) (1,547) {6,892) {6,501} [3,008)
Add (deduct):
Finance costs 1 3 3 9 177
Depreciation and amortization 165 167 655 668 &0
Stack-based compansation 453 519 1917 1321 181
Foreign exchange (gain) koss {28} 1 [43) 22 2}
Gain on expiny of derivative
financial Habilities - - - - {273)
Adjusted EBITDA 11,361} {857) {4,350) {4,451} [2,255)
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SELECTED QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA
[in thousands of dollars, mocept pershare data)

Fiscal year ended February 28, 2013

First Second Third Fourth

Tetal Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter

5 5 5 5 5

Reverue from sales 724 14 237 434 49

Crther Income - Revenue from research contracts - - - - -

Adjustzd EBITDA"' {4,350} (916} {1,037} {1,038} {1,361}

Net loss {5,892} {1,578) (1,752 {1611} {1,953

Logs per share basic and diluted 10,09} 10.02) {0.02}) 10.02} [0.03)
Fizcal year ended February 29, 2012

First Second Third Fourth

Taral Cluarter Cuarter Quarter Quarter

5 5 5 3 3

Revenue from sales 10 - = - 10

Other Income - Revenue from research contracts 11& 83 33 - -

Adjustad EBITDA" {4,481) (593} [1.254) {1,677} (857}

Net loss {E,501) {1,023} [1.724) {2.207) {1,547}

Loss per share basic and diluted [0.10) {0.02) [0.03) {0.03} 10,02}

[1}  Tha Adjusted EBITDA [Earsangs Bafans Intarast, Taned, Daprication and A tization) i p tad for infarmatian purp anly bnd
ragrasents a feancial parformants mesduremant toal mestly used in fissscial circles. Becauss thare & so standard mathod endorad by IFRS
reguirements, the results are unbikely to be comparable to similar measuremests presented by other public o Acasti obtains Ad)

dj

ERITDA messunemant by adding to net loss, finance costs, depreciation and amortization and income taces. Acasti aleo ewchedes the effects of
oertain non-monetary transactions recorded, such as gain or koss on foreigs sxchange and stock-based compensation, for its Adjusted EBITDW
calculation.

COMMEMNTS ON THE SIGNIFICANT VARIATIONS OF RESULTS FROM OPERATIONS FOR THE THREE-MONTH PERIODS AND
YEARS ENDED FEBRUARY 28, 2013 AND FEBRUARY 29, 2012

Revenues

The Corparation generated revenues from sales of 549 from the commerdialization of Gnemia™, its medical food product,
during the three-month pericd ended February 28, 2013, The revenues were generated from a sale made to Mepiune
{541}, as well as from sales made directly to customers in the United States. Acasti relies on a limited number of
distributors/dlients, therafore, revenues from sales may vary significantly quarter to quarter, as it was experienced in the
fourth quarter when comparing it to the third quarter, The Corporation generated revenue from sales of 510 during the
corresponding pericd in 2012, During the three-month periods ended February 28, 2013 and February 29, 2012, the
Carporation did not generate revenue from research contracts.

The Corporation generated revenues from sales of 5724 from the commercialization of Onemia’™, its medical food praduct,
during the year ended February 28, 2013. The revenues were gemerated from a distribution agreement the Corporation
entered into with a US distributor speclalized In medical food (accounting for B5% of sales), from a sale made to Meptune
{accounting for apprawimately 6% of sales) as well a3 from sales made directly to customers in the United States. The
Corporation generated revenue from sales of 510 during the corresponding pericd in 2012, During the year ended February
28, 2013, the Corporation did mot generate revenues from research contracts. During the year ended February 29, 2012,
the Carporation generated revenues from research contracts of $116,
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Gross Profit

Gross profit is calculated by deducting the cost of sales from revenwe. Cost of sales consists primarily of costs incurred to
manufacture products. It also Includes related overheads, such as certaln costs related to quality control and quality
assurance, inventory management, sub-contractors and costs for servicing and commissioning.

The gross profit for the three-month period ended February 28, 2013 amounted to 512 or 24%, which Is significantly below
the Corporation’s target range for its gross profit margin, being 45 1o 55%. The reason for the lower than targeted gross
profit margin for the three-month pericd ended February 28, 2013 is a special sale of Onemia™ to Meptune at a
significantly lower price than the usual Onemia™ selling price because of Neptune's production situation and product
shortage. The Corporation currently does nat anticipate making additional seles to Neptune in the near future, The
Corporation realized a gross profit of 55 or 51% during the three-month period ended February 29, 2012,

The gross profic for the vear ended February 28, 2013 amounted to 5318 ar 44%, which is slightly below the Carporation’s
target range for its gross profit margin of 45% to 55%. The reason for the lower than targeted gross profit margin is the
sales of Onernia™ to Meptune as described above. The Corporation realized a gross profit of 55 or 51% during the year
ended February 29, 3012,

Ereakdown of Major Comp s of the 5t of Operations and Comprehensive Loss for the years ended February
28, 2013 and February 29, 2012
Administrative expensas Three-month periods ended Years anded
February 28, February 29, February28, Februany 29,
2013 20132 2013 2012
5 5 5 5
Salaries and benefits 158 314 912 Q50
Steck-based compensation Ery 515 1462 1049
Professional fees 231 {14) 527 ]
Rayalties 173 75 450 258
Amertization and depreciation 165 167 GBS 658
Sales and marketing 11 (] 131 154
Irvestar relations 4 19 31 L
Rent 9 | 54 E]
Other 8 24 57 95
TOTAL 1,087 1,174 4,289 3,530
Research and development expenses Three-month periods ended Years anded
February 28, February 29, February28, February 29,
2013 2012 2013 2012
) [ 5 s
Salaries and benefits 163 195 634 82
Stock-based compensation 126 4 455 72
Contracts B1G 532 2,030 2,348
Equipmants and laboratory analysis - 3 — B0
Regulatory expenses 1 (31) 68 -
Rent E e = 26
Professional feas & 53 &7 L&
Other 18 17 76 96
Tax eredits {212) {3B6) {370} {a53)
TOTAL 918 387 3,010 3,106
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Earnings before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation and Amortization (Adjusted EBITDA)

Adjusted EBITDA decreased by 5504 for the three-month peried ended February 28, 2013 to 5(1,361) compared to $(857)
for the three-month pericd ended February 28, 2012, mainly due to Increases in administration and research and
developrment expenses befare consideration of stock-based compensation and amartization and depreciation.

The Increase in administration expense fs mainly due to Increases in professional fees and royaltles payable to the parent
cofporation, principally offset by decreases in salaries and benefits and sales and marketing expendes. Royalties 1o Neptune
will be expensad until the royalty prepayment agreement is approved by the Corporation’s shareholders. The prepaymeant
agreament i subject to the approval of the disinterested sharehalders of the Corporation at the next annual meeting in
June 2013, The increase in research and development expenses is mainly attributable to the increase in contracts expenses
related to the Corporation’s clinical trials as well as to the decrease in tax credits, principally offset by decreases in
professional fees and salaries and benefits.

Adjusted EBITDA improved by 5131 for the year ended February 28, 2013 to 5(4,350) compared to ${4,481) for the year
ended February 29, 2012, malnly due to the increase in revenues (see Revenuas and Gross Profit sections) and decrease in
research and development expenses (befere comsideration of stock-based compensation), offset by the incresse in
administration expenses (before consideration of stock-based compensation and amortization and depreciation).

The decrease in research and development expenses is mainly attributable o decreases in contracts expenses related to
the Corporation's dinical trials and equipment and laboratories analysis, principally offset by the increase in regulatory
expenses and tax credits. The increase in administrative expenses is mainly attributable to increases in professional fees
and Imrewalties payable to the parent corporation.

Met Loss

The Corporation realized a net loss for the three-month pericd ended February 28, 2013 of $1,953 or $0.03 per share
compared to a net loss of $1,547 or 50.02 per share for the three-month period ended February 29, 2012. These results are
malnly attributable to the factors described above in the Revenues and Adjusted EBITDA secticns.

The Corporation realized a net loss for the year ended February 28, 2013 of $6,892 or 50.09 per share compared to a net
loss of 56,501 or 50.10 per share for the year ended February 29, 2012, These results are mainly attributable to the factors
described above in the Revenues and Adjusted EBITDA sections and by the increase in the stock-based compensation
expense of 5596, principally as a result of additional stock option grants during the year.

Capital Stock Structure

The authorized capital stock consists of an unlimited number of Class A, Class B, Class €, Class D and E without par value.
Issued and cutstanding fully paid shares, cutstanding warrants and cutstanding stock options were as follows:

February 28, 2013 February 29, 2012

Class A shares, voting. participating and without par value 73,107,538 72,636,888
Stock options granted and cutstanding 5,216,250 3,347,500
Series & warrants exercisable at 50.25 until October 8, 2013 5,432,350 5,785,500
Series 6 & T warrants exercisable at $1.50 until

February 10, 2015 750,000 T50,000
Total fully diluted shares 4,506,138 E1,519,8E8
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Cash Flow and Financial Condition between the Years ended February 28, 2013 and February 29, 2012

Operating activities

During the three-month pericds ended February 28, 2013 and February 29, 2012, the Corporation’s operating activities
generated an increase in liquidity of 560 and a decrease of liquidity of 51,263, respectively, consisting of the net loss
Incurred for the quarter adjusted for non-cash items, such as depreciation of equipment, amortization of intangible asset,
stock-based compensation, finance expenses and foreign exchange, a5 well as for the net changes in non-cash operating
working capital items for the pericd. The net changes in non-cash operating working capital items for the three-month
period ended February 28, 2013 amounted to an increase of 51,427 and are mainly due to decreassas in trade and other
receivables (S670), tax credits receivables (5310} and inventories ($41), as well a5 to increases in payable to pargnt
corporation ($378) and royalties payable to parent corporation ($198), principally offset by the decrease in trade and other
payables (5183). The net changes in non-cash cperating working capital items for the three-month period ended February
29, 2012, amounted to 8 decrease of 5402 and are mainly due o increases in tax credits receivable [$392) and inventories
(588}, as well a5 1o the decrease royalties payable to parent corporation ($261), principally offset by increases in trade and
other payables {$266) and payable to parent corporation [572).

During the years ended February 28, 2013 and February 29, 2012, the Corporation’s cperating activities used cash of 52,549
and 85,615, raspactively, consisting of the net loss Incurred for the year adjusted for non-cash itams, such as depraciation
of equipment, amortization of intangible asset, stock-based compensation, finance expenses and foreign exchange, as well
as for the net changes in mon-cash cperating working capital items for the period. The net changes in non-cash operating
working capital items for the year ended February 28, 2013 amounted to an Increase of 51,636 and are mainly due to
decreases in inventories (5377) and tax credit recatvable {5255), ac well as to the increases in payable to parent corporation
{5996) and royalties payable to parent corporation (3480}, principally offset by the decreases in trade and other payables
(5283). The net changes in non-cash operating working capital items for the year ended February 29, 2012, amounted to a
decreasze of 51,078 and are mainly due to increases in inventories ($599), tax credits receivable (5349} and rade and other
receivables (5250), as well as the decrease in payable to parent corporation (5221) and royalties payable to parent
corporation [578), principally offset by an increase Intrade and other payables [5485).

Investing activities

During the three-month periods ended February 28, 2013 and February 29, 2012, the Corporation's Investing activities
generated increases in liquidities of 5168 and 3750, respectively, The increase in liguidity generated by imvesting activities
during the three-month pericd ended February 28, 2013 is mainly due to the maturity of short-term investments of 5250,
offset by the acquisition of intangible assets of 583, The increase in liquidity generated by investing activities during the
three-month period ended February 29, 2012 is mainly due to the maturity of short-term investment of 5750,

During the years ended February 28, 2012 and February 29, 2012, the Corporation’s investing activities generated an
imncrease in liquidities of 51,899 and a decreaze in liquidities of 52,992, respectively. The increasza in liquidity generated by
investing activities during the year ended February 28, 2013 is mainly due to the maturity of short-term investments of
£2,000, offset by the acquisiion of intanglble assets of 5103, The decrease In liguidity generated by Irvesting activities
during the year ended February 29, 2012 is mainly due to the acquisition of short-term imestments of 57,500, principally
offset by the maturity of short-term investments of 54,500,

Financing activities

During the three-month periods ended February 28, 2013 and 2012, the Corporation’s financing activities generated
increases in liquidities of 5185 and 51,581, respectively. The increase in liquidities generated from financing activity during
the three-month pericds ended February 28, 2013 resulted mainly from proceeds from exerdse of warrants and options af
5185, The increase in liquidities generated from financing activity during the three-manth periods ended February 29, 2012
resulted mainly from the net proceeds from private placement of $1,979.

During the years ended February 28, 2013 and February 29, 2012, the Corporation's financing activities generated increases
In liquidities of 5227 and 59,884, respectively. The Increase in liquidities generated from financing activity during the year
ended February 28, 2013 resulted mainly from proceeds from exercise of warrants and options of $229. The increase in
liquidities generated from financing activity during the year ended February 29, 2012 resulted mainly from net proceeds
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frarm exercise of rights of 57,850, net proceeds from private placement of 51,979 and proceeds from exercise of warrants
and options of 564,

Cwerall, as a result, the Corporation’s cash increased by 5434 and decreased by 5393, respectively, for the three-month
pericd and year ended February 28, 2013, Tetal liquidities as at February 28, 2012, comprised of cash and short-term
Investments, amounted to 54,785 See basls of presentation for additional discussion of the Corporation’s financial
condition,

To date, the Corporation has financed its operations primarily through the exercise of rights and warrants fssued to its
shareholders as well 8s to Neptune and its shareholders, the private offerings of shares, as wel| as research tax credits,
revenues from sales and research contracts, as well as interest income. The future profitability of the Corporation is
dependent upon such factors as the success of the clinical trials, the approval by regulatory authorities of products
developed by the Corporation, the ability of the Carporation to successfully market, sell and distribute products, and the
ability of the Corporation to obtain the necessary financing to complete its projects.

Financial Position

The following table details the significant changes to the balance sheet as at February 28, 2013 compared to February 29,
032

Accounts Increase Comments
[Decreace)

Cash {393) See cash flow statement
Shart-term Investments Maturity of short-term [mrestrments to

{1,954} finance operations
Trade and other receivables 8 Cnemia™ sales
Tax credits receivable [255) Tax credits recaived
Inventories (377} Onemia™ zales
Intangible assets [554) Additions, offset by amortization
Trade and other payables [283) Repayment of trade and other payables
Payable to parent corperation 95 Increase in amount awed
Royaties payable to parent corporation 480 Increass in royalties owed

Contractual Obligations, Off-Balance-Sheet Arrangements and Commitrents
The Corporation has no off-balance sheet arrangements. All of the Corporation’s liabilities (52,446 are due within twelve
months.

A summary of Acasti's contractual obligations at February 28, 2013 is as follows:

Total Less than 1 1-3years 3-Syears  Greater than

year 5 years

5 5 5 5 5

Payables qor 07 - - -
Dhue to parent corporation 1,739 1,729 - -
Research and development contracts 1,735 1,735 - -
Total 4,181 4,181 - -

Slgnificant commitments include:
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License agraement

The Corporation is committed under a license agreement 1o pay Neptune until the expiration of Neptune’s patents on
llcensed intellactual property a royalty equal to the sum of (a) In relation to sales of products In the licensad fleld, If any, the
greater of: (i} 7.5% of net sales, and (i) 15% of Acasti®s gross margin; and {b) 20% of revenues from sub-licenses granted by
Acasti to third parties, if any. After the expiration of Neptune’s patents on licensed intellectual property in 2022, the license
agreement will automatically renew for an addidonal 15 years, during which perlod rovalties will be determined to be equal
to half of those calculated with the above formula. The license will expire on the date of expiration of the last-te-expire of
the licensed patent claims andfor continuation in part and/for divisional of the licensed patent claims. After the last-to
expire of the licensed patents on licensed intellactual property, which is currently expected to oocur in 2022, the license will
autarnatically renew for an additional period of 15 years, during which pericd reyalties will equal half of those calculated
according to the above formula. Im addition, the licernse agreement provides for minimum rovalty payments
notwithstanding the above of: year 1 - nil; year 2 - 550; year 3 - $200; year 4 - $225 {initlally $300, but reduced to 5225
following Acasti's abandanment of its rights to develop produects for the over-the-counter market pursuant o the license);
year 5 - 5700; and year & and thereafter - 5750, Minimum royalties are based on contract years based on the effective date
of the license agreement, August 7, 2008.

Cn Decamber 4, 2012, the Corporation announced that it entered into a prepayment agreemaent with Neptune pursuant to
which the Corporation exercied Its option under the licance agreement to pay in advance all of the future royalties’
payable under the license, The value of the prepayment, determined with the assistance of outside valuations specialists,
using the pre-established formula sat forth in the license agresment, amounts to approximately 515,525, which is intended
o be paid through the fssuance of 6,750,000 Class A shares, lssuable at a price of $2.30 per share, upon the exerdse of a
warrant delivered to Neptune at the signature of the prepayment agreement

The prepayment and the kssuance of the Commen Shares to Neptune are subject to the final approval of the TSX Venture
Exchange and the approval of the disinterested shareholders of the Corporation at the next annual meeting of sharehalders
of the Corporation.

Research and development agreements
In the normal course of business, the Corporation has signed agreements with various partners and suppliers for them to
exacute research projects and to produce and market certain products.

The Corporation initiated research and development projects that will be conducted over a 12 to 24 month peried for a
total initial cost of 54,168, of which an amount of 52,357 has been paid to date. As at February 28, 2013, an amount of 566
is induded in “Trade and other payables” im relation to these projects.

Related Party Transactions

The Corporation was charged by Neptune for certain costs incurred by Meptune for the banefit of the Corparation in the
amount of 52,072 during year ended February 28, 2013 (5943 for sdministrative costs, 5678 for research and development
costs and $450 for royalties) and 51,939 during the year ended February 29, 2012 {$950 for administrative costs, 5732 for
resaarch and development costs and 5258 for royalties). These transactions are in the normal cowrse of operations. Where
Neptune incurs specific incremental costs for the benefit of the Corporation, it charges those amounts directly, Costs that
benefit more than one entity of the Neptune group are being charged by allocating a fraction of costs incurred by Neptune
that s commensurate to the estimated fraction of services or benefits received by each entity for those items. These
charges do not represent all charges incurred by Neptune that may have benefited the Corperation, because, amongst
others, Neptune does not allocate certain common office expenses and does not charge interest on indebtedness. Alse,
these charges do not necessarily represent the cost that the Corporation would otherwise need to incur should it not
receive these services or benefits through the shared resources af Neptune or receive financing from Neptune.

The Corporaticn recognized sales to Neptune In the amount of 541 during the year ended February 28, 2013 (2012 = nil}.
These transactions are in the normal course of operations.
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The Corporation charged Neptune and a corporation under common control for research and development work
performed for their benefit in the amount of 593 and 523, respectively, during the year ended February 29, 2012 {2013 -
nil). These transactions are in the normal course of operations.

Payable to parent corporation has no specified maturity date for payment or reimbursement and does not bear interest.
Thiz amount has beern measured at the exchange amount and classified as current labllites.

The key management personnel of the Corporation are the members of the Board of Directors and certain officers. Thay
contral 3% of the voting shares of the Corporation. See mote 5 to the financial statements for disclosures of key
management personntl compensation,

Cn December 4, 2012, the Corporation entered Into a prepayment agreement with Neptune as detalled under "Contractual
Obligations, Off-Balance Sheet Arrangerments and Commitments — License Agreament”.

Uso of estimates and measurement of uncertainty

The preparation of the financlal statements In conformity with IFRS requires management to make [udgments, estimates
and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income
and expensas. Actual results may differ from these estimates. Estimates are based on the management’s best knowledge
of current events and actions that the Corporation may undertake in the future. Estimates and underlying assumptions are
reviewed on an ongaing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognized In the period in which the estimates are
revised and in any future periods affected. Critical judgments in applying sccounting policies that have the most significant
effect on the amounts recognized in the finandal statements include the use of the going concern basls (See note 2 [b) of
the financial statements). Assurnptions and estimation uncertainties that have a significant risk of resulting in & material
adjustment within the next financial year indude allocation of shared costs amangst the Neptune group companies {nate 5
to finandal statements) and the measwrement of stock-based compensation (note 14 to the financial statements). Also, the
Corporation uses its best estimate to determine which research and developrment ("RED") experses qualify for RED tax
credits and in what amounts, The Corporation recognizes the tax credits once it bas reasonable assurance that they will be
realized. Recorded tax credits are subject to revlew and approval by tax authorities and therefore, could be different from
the amounts recorded,

Critical Accounting Policies

Research and development expanses

Rezearch expenses are charged to income in the period of expenditure less related tax credits. Development costs are
charged to income as incurred wnless a development project meets generally accepted accounting criteria for deferral and
amortization. The Corporation has mot deferred any development costs since Inception.

Tax credits
Tax credits related to eligible expenses are accounted for as a reduction of related costs in the year during which the
expenses are incurred as long as there is reasonable aswrance of their realization,

Stock-based compensation

The Corporation has a stock-based compensation plan, which is described in note 14 of the financial statements. The
Corporation accounts for stock options granted to employees based on the fair value method, with fair value determined
using the Black-Scholes model. Under the fair value methed, compensation cost is measured at fair value at date of grant
and is expersed over the award's vesting period with a cormesponding increase in contributed surplus. For stock options
granted to non-employees, the Corporation measures based on the fair value of services received, unless those are not
rellably estimable, in which case the Corporation measures the fair value of the equity instrurnents granted. Compensation
cont is measured when the company obtaing the goods or the counterparty renders the service,
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Also, the Corporation records as stock-based compensation expense a portion of the expense being recorded by Neptune
that is commensurate to the fraction of overall services that the grantees provide directly to the Corporation and the offset
to contributed surplus reflecting Neptune's contribution to the Corporation.

Income taxes

The Corporation follows the lability method of accounting for income taxes. Under this method, deferred income tax assets
and liabilities are determined based on the differences between the carrying value and tax bases of assets and liabilities and
they are measured using substantively enacted tax rates and laws that are expected during the periods when the temporary
differemces are expected to be realized or settled. A valuation allowance is provided to the extent that it i rmore likely than
nat that all or part of the deferred income tax assets will not be realized. The Corporation has nat recognized any deferred
tax assets in its financial statements because it has determined that they are not probable of being realized.

Future Accounting Changes

See note 3 (g): New standards and interpretations not vet adopted, to the financial statements,

During the three-manth period ended February 28, 2013, the CEQ and the CFO evaluated whether there were any material
changes in internal control over financial reporting pursuant to M 52-109. They individually conduded that there was no
changes during the three-month period ended February 28, 2013 that affected materially or is reasonably likely to affect
materially the Corporation’s intermal controls over finandal reporting.

Financial Instrumants

Cradit risk:

Credit risk Is the risk of a loss If a customer or counterparty to a financlal assat falls to meet lts contractual cbligations, and
arises primarily from the Corporation’s trade receivables. The Corporation may alse have credit risk relating to cash and
short-term imeestments, which it manages by dealing only with highly-rated Canadian institutions. The carrying amount of
financial assets, as disclosed In the consolidated statement of financial position, represents the Corpeoration's credit
exposure at the reporting date. The Corporation’s trade receivables and credit exposure fluctuate throughout the year.
The Corporation’s sverage trade receivables and credit expesure during the year may be higher than the balance at the end
of that reporting pericd.

The Corporation’s credit risk for trade receivables is concentrated, as the majority of its sales are to one customer, As at
February 28, 2013, the Corporation had seven trade debtors. Most zales’ payment terms are set in acoordance with
industry practice, One customer represents 97% of total wade accounts included in trade and other receivables as at
February 28, 2013,

Mest of the Corporation’s clients are distributors for 8 given territory and are privately-held enterprises, The profile and
credit quality of the Corpeoration's retail customers vary significantly. Adverse changes in a customer’s financial position
could cause the Corporation to limit or discontinue conducting business with that customer, require the Corpeoration to
assume more credit risk relating to that customer's future purchases or result in uncollectible accounts receivable from that
customer. Such changes could have a material adverse effect on business, consolidated results of operations, financial
condition and cash flows.

The Corporation’s extension of credit to customers invelves considerable judgment and is based on an evaluation of each
customer's financlal condition and payment histong. The Corporation has established various Internal contrals designed to
mitigate credit risk, including a credit analysis by the insurer which recommends customers’ credit limits and payment
terms that are reviewed and approved by the Corporation. The Corporation reviews pericdically the insurer’s maximum
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credit quatation for each of its clients. New clients are subject to the same process as regular clients. The Corporation has
also established procedures o cbtain approval by senior management to release goods for shipment when customers have
fully-utilized approved Insurers credit limits. From time to time, the Corporation will temporarlly transact with customers
on & prepayment basis where circumstances warrant.

While the Corporation’s credit controls and processes have been effective in mitigating credit risk, these contrels cannat
eliminate credit risk and there can be no assurance that these controls will continue to be effective, or that the
Corporation’s low credit loss experience will continue.

Customers do nat provide collateral in exchange for eredit, except in unusual crcumstances. Receivables from selected
customers are covered by credit insurance, with coverage amount wsually of 100% of the invoicing, with the exception of
some oustomers under specific terms. The information avaflable through the Insurers is the maln element in the declsion
process to determine the credit limits assigned to customers,

The Corporation provides for wade receivable accounts to their expected realizable value as soon as the account s
determined nat to be fully collectible, with such write-offs charged to consclidated earnings unless the loss bas been
provided for in prior periods, in which case the write-off is applied to reduce the allowance for doubtful accounts. The
Corporation updates its estimate of the allowance for doubtful sccounts, based on evaluations of the collectability of
wade receivable balances at each reporting date, taking into account amounts which are past due, and any available
infarmation indicating that a customer could be experiencing liquidity or gaing concern problems,

The aging of trade receivable balances and the allowance for doubtful accounts as at February 28, 2013: current was nill;
past due 0-20 days was nil, past due 31-120 days were 5175, past due 121-130 days were 53, allowance for doubtful
acoount was 53,

The allowance for doubtful accounts is for customer accounts ower 121 days past due. There was no movement in
allowance for doubtful accounts in respect of rade receivablas during the year ended February 28, 2013,

Exchange risk:
As at February 28, 2013, the Corporation is not exposed to any significant exchange risk, as it did not have amy significant
assets of liabilities denominated in foreign currencies.

Interest rate risk:

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of
changes in market rates. The Corporation's short term investments bear interest at short-term fixed interest rates. The
capacity of the Corporation to reinvest the short-term amounts with equivalent returns will be impacted by variations in
short-term fixed interest rates available on the market,

Ligubdity risk:

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Corporation will not be able to meet its financial cbligations as they fall due. The
Corporation manages liquidity risk through the management of its capital structure and financial leverage. It also manages
Ilquidity risk by continuously monitoring actual and projected cash flows. The Board of Directors reviews and approves the
Corporation’s operating budgets, and reviews the most important transactions cutside the normal course of business. Ag
discussed in note 17 [d) to the financial statements, the contractual maturities of all of all the Corporation’s financial
liabilities are less than 1 year. See basis of presantation of the financial statements.

Financial rish:

The success of the Corporation Is dependent on Its abilfty to bring Its products to market, obtaln the necessary approwvals,
and achieve future profitable cperations, This is dependent on the Cosporation’s ability to obtain adequate financing
through a combination of financing activities and operations. It s not possible to predict either the cutcome of future
ressarch and development programs, nor the Corparation’s ability, to fund these programs gaing forward.
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MANAGEMENT ANALYSS OF THE FINANCIAL SITUATION AND OFERATING RESULTS

Falr value of financial instrument risk:

The Corparation has determined that the carrying values of short-term financial assets and liabilities, including cash, trade
and other receivables as well as trade and other payable, approximate their fair value because of the relatively short period
o maturity of the instruments,

Risk Factors

Investing in securities of the Corporation involves a high degree of risk. The information contained in the financial
statements for the years ended February 28, 2013 and February 29, 2012 and this MD&A should be read In conjunction
with all af the Corporation and the parent corporation’s public documentation. In particular, prospective investors shauld
carefully consider the risks and uncertainties described in owr filings with secuwrities regulators, including those described
under the heading "Risk Factors” In cur listing application and Im ouwr latest annual information form, if any, avallable on
SEDAR at www.sedar.com and on EDGAR at www.sec govfedgar.shtml, and the following risks.

Additional risks and uncertalnties, including those of which the Corporation ls currently unaware or that it deems
immaterial, may also adversely affect the Corporation’s business, financial condition, liquidity, results of operation and
prospects.

Product Liability

The parent corporation Neptune has secured a $5,000 product liability insurance policy, which alse covers its subsidiaries,
renewable on an annuwal basis, to cover civil llability relating to its products. Meptune also maintains a guality-assurance
process that is "Quality Management Program™ certified by the Canadian Foed Inspection Agency and has cbtained
GMP accreditation from Health Canada.

Additional Infermation

Updated and additional informaticn an the Corporation and the parent corparation Neptune Technologies & Blorestsources
is available from the SEDAR Website at www.sedar.com or on EDGAR at www sec.gov/edgar shtml,

As at May 21, 2013, the total number of class A shares issued by the Corporation and in circulation was 73,181,288, The
Corporation also has 5,292 500 stock options, 5,372,350 Series 4 warrants and 750,000 Series 6 & 7 warrants outstanding.

tsd Henwl Harfand F5f avier Harland
Hemnri Harland Xawvler Harland
President & Chief Exacutive Officer Chief Financial Officers
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MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITY
FOR FINANCIAL REPORTING

The accompanying financial statements have been prepared by management and approved by the Board of Directors of
the Company. The financial statements were prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as
issued by the Intermational Accounting Standards Board and, where appropriate, reflect management's best estimates
and judgments. Where alternative acecunting methods exist, management has chosen those methods deemed mast
appropriate in the circumstances. Management is responsible for the accuracy, integrity and objectivity of the financial
staternents within reascnable limits of materiality, and for the consistency of financial data included in the text of the
Management's Discussion and Analysis with the data contained in the financial statements,

To assist management in the discharge of these responsibilities, the Company maintains a system of internal controls
over financial reporting and established policies and procedures designed to ensure the reliability of financial
information and to safeguard assets,

The Company’s Audit Committee is appointed by the Board of Directors annually and is comprised exclusively of cutside,
independent directors, The Audit Committee meets with management as well as with the independent auditors to
satisfy itself that management is properly discharging its financial reporting responsibilities and to review the financial
statements. The audit committee reports its findings to the Board of Directors for consideration in approving the
financial statements for presentation to the shareholders. The Audit Committee considers, for review by the Board of
Directors and approval by the shareholders, the engagement or reappointment of the independent auditors. The
independent auditors, KPMG LLP, have direct access to the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors,

The financial statements have been independently audited by KPMG LLP on behalf of the shareholders, in accordance
with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Their report cutlines the nature of their audit and expresses their
opinion on the financial statements of the Company.

/s Henri Harland A5/ Xavier Harlord
Henri Harland Xavier Harland
President and Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer

Laval, Québec, Canada
May 21, 2013
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KPMG LLP Telephone  {514) S40-2100

B0 de Masonnearve Eded West Fax 1594) 402187
Syt 1500 Irbisirnil i g £
Tour KRG

Mantrdal [Cubbec) HIA QA3

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS" REPORT

Ta the Shareholders of Acast Pharma Ine.

W have sandited mewnmpm-plng fimancial statements of Acast Pharma |rlf__, which mﬂﬂ'} thie statements of financial Pbﬁl.ibn a5 at FI'H!rI.Hr“I
28, 2013 and February 29, 2002, the statements of eamings and comprehensiee loss, changes in equity and cash flows for the years then enced,
ard notes, comprising a summarny of significant accounting policies and other explanatery information.

Managernent’s Responsitility for the Fnoncin! Statements

Management i responsible for the preparation and fair presertation of these financial statements in accordance with Intematicnal Financial
Reperting Standards {“IFA5"] as lssued by the ntemational Accounting Standards Beard (*IASE"], and for such intemal contred as managemens
determines is necessary te enable the preparation of financlal statements that are free frem matedal misstatement, whether due to frawd or errer,

Aurdtors” Responshiity

Our responsibility i to express an opindon on these finandial saterments based on our audits. We conducted our audits in acoordance with Canadian
penerally sccepted audiing standarde. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obiain
reasonable assurance about whether the financial staternents are free from material misstatement.

A andit invelbves performing procedures 1o ebtain audic evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures
sefected depend on our udgment, inchuding the assessment of the risks of material misstaternent of the finandial staterments, whether due to fraud
ar gror. In making those rick nis, Wi ider | | contrel relovant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial
statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinicn on the
effectiveness of the entity's internal control. An audit also inchedes evaluating the apprepriatensss of accounting policles used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimares made by management, a5 well as evaluating the overall presentation of the finandal statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basiz for our audit opinion.
Cipiiin

In cur epinden, the finandal stat ts | fairky, in all matesdal respects, the financial pesition of Acasti Pharma inc. as at Febouary 28, 2013
andl February 259, 2002, and its Sinancial performance and s cash flows for the years then ended inaccordance with IFRS as issued by the (A58,

Emphasis of Matter

Witheut medifying cur opinion, we draw attention to nate 2 (b} in the financial statements, which indicates that Acasti Pharma ing, has incurred
aperating losses and negative cash flows from operations nos inception. This condition, along with ather matters as set forth in note 2 (b} in the
financial stavements, indicates the existence of a material uncertainty that casts substantial doubt about Acast Phasma inc.'s abilicy to continue a5 a
ROing CORCER,

Rzl

May 21, 2013
Montrial, Canada

PP A e o, G A, Buble aesuRlEney SRR Mo AT 0

WP MG LLP 1% 8 S ardan Imited Rabiy parinership and 4 membir B ol B KRG
et of ingegenderd me g b aSiated Wi BT UG Inral oral Coapenidog
WP etrrid e, o G debly

WP U0 Gl Bl el s 4 0P M) LLP
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ACASTI PHARMA INC.

Statements of Financial Pasition

February 28, 2003 and Februyary 28, 2002

February 28, February 22,
2013 2012
Assats
Current assets:
Cash 5 1,196.588 5 1589210
Short-term investments 3, 588227 5,542,764
Trade and other receivables (note 4] 450,838 442,718
Receivable from corporation under cemmon contral 49 558 49,658
Tax cred fs receivable (note 6] 335501 530402
Inwentaries (note 7) 222,125 549,456
Prépaid axpendsd 16,691 41,650
5,859,508 B.BS6 A58
Equipment [note 8) 19278 27,164
Intangible assets [nate %) 6,291,162 5245238
Tatal asiets % 12,170,048 & 15,728,860
Liabilitees and Equity
Cusrrent labilities:
Trade and other payables (nete 10 & 706,883 &  DA5E62
Payable Lo parent conporation (note 5) 1,220,604 214,372
Rovalties payvable to parent corporation (nofe 18) 528,885 49,084
Tatal liabilities 2,446,372 1,259,518
Equity:
Share capital (note 11 (a)) 28,922,710 28,614,550
Warrants and rights (note 11 fc), (d)) 405,687 313,315
Contributed surplus 438711 {1,306.451)
Deficit (20,044,432 [13.152072)
Total equity 2,723,676 14,465,342
Commitments [note 18)
Tatal llabilities and equity 5 12,170,048 % 15,728,850

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
On behalf of the Board:
/5 Ronakd Denis

Dr. Romald Denis
Chairman of the Baard

A5 Mtichel Chartrand
Michel Chartrand
Director
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ACASTI PHARMA INC.

Statements of Earnings and Comprehensive Loss

Years ended Febroary 28, 2013 and February 29, 2012

February 28, February, 29
2013 2012
Revenue fram sales £ 724,19 - 10,415
Cost of sales [406.371) |5077)
Gross profit 317,825 5338
Revenue from research contracts [nate 5) - 115,966
General and administrative expenses (4,288 542] 13,529,384)
Research and development expenses, net of tax credits of 5370,259 (2002 - $453.316) [3.009,016) 13.104.762)
Results from operating sctivities [6,979,733) {B.512.B42)
Finance income (note 13) 47241 43,143
Finance costs [note 13) (2.685) 18.5962)
Foreign exchange gain [boss) 42,817 [22.272)
Met finance inoome 87373 11,909
Met loss and total comprehensive loss for the year 5 [6.852,.360) 5 {6,500,933)
Basic and diluted o per share (note 15) s [0.0%) % (0.10)
Weighted average number of shares outstanding (note 158 T2,754.438 67,231,636

See socompanying notes 1o financial statements
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ACASTI PHARMA INC.

Statements of Changes in Equity

Years ended Febroary 28, 2013 and February 29, 2012

Share capital Warrants Cantributed
Number Dallar and rights surplus Deficit Total
Balance, February 29, 2042 T2E3E,BE8 4 2BE14,550 & 313,315 £ {1,206,451) & [13,152,072) & 14,450,342
Met loss and total comprehensive
loss far the year - - - - (6.892.360) {6.892.360)
71E36.888 28,514,550 3338 11,206,451) (30,044, 432) 1576942
Transactions with cwmers,
recorded directly in equity
Contributions by and distribulicns
H0 owWners
Share-based payment transactions - - 43372 1,523,845 - 1917217
Warrants exercised 353,150 88289 - - - 88,289
Share options exercised 117,500 219.871 = (78,683) = 141,188
Tatal contributions by and
distributions to owners 470,650 308,160 93372 1745162 = 2,146,694
Balance at February 28, 2013 73,107,538 5 18922710 5 405687 5 438,711 5 [20044432) 5 9713878
Balance, February 28, 2011 59,174 444 4 12,174,901 & = 1 181,074 4% (BB51,139) % 5,704,835
Met loss and total comprehensive
loss far the year - = - - (6.500.533) {B.500.933)
52,174 444 12,1745 == 181074 (12,152,072} (T96,047)
Transactions with owmers,
recorded directly in equity
Contributions by and distributions
o Bwrers
Issuance of shares through
private placement 1,500,000 1,978 800 - - - 1,978,600
Comersion of convertible
redeemable shares 5,260,000 4,062,000 - = - 4,052,000
Share-based payment transactions = = 313315 1,007 256 = 1,320,571
Warrants exercised 114,500 55,500 - - - 55,500
Share aptions exercized 42,500 1325 et [4,501) - 8751
Issuance of rights = = 2,490.280 {2,490,280) = =
Rights axarcisad B.445,444 10,340,297 [2.490,280) - - T.RS0017
Tatal contributions by and
distributions 1o cwners 12,452 444 16,429,649 313,315 {1,487 525) - 15265439
Balsnce at February 29, 2012 T2.E36,B88 & 28614,550 & 313,315 £ {1,206,451) 4 [13,152,072) & 14,450,347

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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ACASTI PHARMA INC.

Statements of Cash Flows

Years ended Febroary 28, 2013 and February 29, 2012

February 28, Fabruary 23,
013 2012
Cash flows used in operating activithes:
Het loss for the year §  [6,892,360) § (B6.500,933)
Addjustrsnts:
Depracistion of equipment 7586 10,745
Amortitation of intangible asset 657,144 657,142
Hock-bsed compeniaton 117,217 1.320,571
Met financs income [57,373) 111,509)
Fareign exchange gain {loss) 42,817 22.272)
Foreign exchangs [gain) lass on cash (20,148] 9,484
[4,284,517) 14.537.172)
Changes in non-cash cperating working capitsl ivers:
Trade and other receivables i8,120) [250,278)
Recaivabile from corporation undsr comman control = (37.277)
Tax credits receable 354 a1 [345,102)
Investasies 377331 (555, 456)
Prepald expenses 24,955 (27,219)
Trade and other payables {288,779) 485,057
Payable to parant corporation 905,532 1220,5%8)
Acyaltis payable o parent corporation 473,501 (78,526)
1,835,925 [1.077,743)
Met cash used in operating activities [2,5%48,592) (5.514,521)
Cash flows from (used in) investing activities:
Interest recaived 1,778 & 16
Acguisition of intangible assets 1103, 068) =
Acquigition of ghort-tern inatmantd = [7.500,000)
Baturity of short-term investments 2,000, 600 4 S00,000
Bet cash from (used in) investing actiaties 1,898,710 [2.991,874)
Cash flews fromm financing acthities:
Proceeds from edercise of warrants and options 128477 B4,251
HMet procsed: fram exercie of rghts - 7.850,017
Met proceech from private placemaent = 1,978,600
Interest paid 12,685] [8,962)
Het cash from financing sctivities 236,742 9 BET G065
Fourap gy o b e gaen [boss) on cash hald im forelgn cumencies 30,148 |9.454)
Met [decrease) increass in cash 1393,242) 1267627
Cash, baginning of year 1,580,810 333183
Cash, and of year 5 1,196,568 5 1,589,810
Supplemental cash Flow disclosure:
Mon=cash transactiors:
Conwersion of convertible redesmable shares {note 11) 5 = 5 4052000

Sea atcompanying notes to financial statemeants.
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ACASTI PHARMA INC.

Motes to Financial Ratements

Years ended Febroary 28, 2013 and February 29, 2012

1. Reporting entity

Acasti Fharma Inc. {the "Corporation®] is incorporated under the Business Corparations Adt (Québec) (formerly Part 1A of the Companies Act
(Québec)]. The Corparation s domiciled in Canada and its reghtered office 5 located at 545, Promenade du Centropolls, Laval, Québec,
HTT 0A3, The Corporation is 2 majority-owned subsidiary of Neptune Technologies and Bloressources Inc., (“Neptune”).

On August 7, 2008, the Corperation commenced operations after having acquired from Neptune an exdusive worldwide licenss to use its
intellectual property to develop, clinically study and market new pharmaceutical prodwcts to trest human cardiovaseular conditions.
Neptune's intellectisal property is related to the extraction of particular ingredients from marine biomasses, such as krill. The eventual
products are aimed at applications in the ovar-the-counter medicne, medical foods and prescription drug markets,

Operations essantially consist in the development of new products and the conduct of clinical research studies on animals and humans.

Almest all research and development, admin ion and capital exp es incurred by the Corporation since the start of the operations
are associated with the project described above.

The Corporation is subject 0o a number of risks associated with the successful development of new preducts and thelr marketing, the
conduct of its clinical studies and their results, the meeting of development objectives set by Neptune i its license agreement, and the
establishment of strategic alliances, The Corporation will have to finance its research and development activities and its clinical studies. Te
achieve the objectives of B3 business plan, the Conparation plans o establish strategic alliances, ratse the necessary capital and make sales. it
is anticipated that the products developed by the Corporation will require approval frem the US Food and Drug Administration and
equivalent arganizations in other countries before their sale can be authorized.

2. Basis of preparation

(3] Statement of compliance:

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards {“IFRS”) as issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board (“1AS8").

The financial statements were authorized for iBswe by the Board of Directors on May 21, 2013,

b

Going concernt

The Corporation has incurred operating losses and negative cash flows from operations since inception. As at February 28, 2013, the
Caorporation’s current labdlities and expected level of expenses in the research and development phase of its drug candidate significantly
excesd current assets. The Cosporation's liabilities at February 28 2013 include amounts due to Neptune of 51,739.488  The
Caorporation plans to rely on the continued support of Neptune to pursue its operations, including obtaining additional funding, If
required. The continuance of this support |s outskde of the Corporation’s control, If the Corporation does not receive the continued
fimaneial suppornt frem its parent or the Corparation does not raise additional funds, it may not be able to realize its assets and discharge
its liabilities in the normal course of business. As a result, there exists 8 material uncertainty that casts substamtial doubt about the
Carporation's ability to continue a5 8 going concern and, therefore, realize its assats and discharge its labilities in the normal course of
Business.

The finandial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, which assumes the Corporation will continue its operations in
the foreseeable future and will be able to realize its assets and discharge its liabilities and commitments in the ordinary course of
bugingss. These financial statements do not include any ad justments to the carrying values and classfication of assets and liabdities and
reported revenues and expenses that may be necessary if the going concern basis was not appropriate for these financial statements.

o) Basis of measurement:

The financial statemants have been prepared on the historical cost basis, except for stock-based compensation which i initially
recarded at fair value as detailed in Note 2(g) (i.

{dy Functional and presentation currency:

These financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars, which is the Corporation's functional currency.
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ACASTI PHARMA INC.

Motes to Financial Statements, Continued

Years anded February 28, 2011 and February 29, 2012

2

3

Basis of preparation (continued):

(e} Use of estimates and judgements:

The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires manag to make judge 5, estimates and
assumptions that affect the application of accounting polickes and the reported amounts of assets, Babilities, income and expenses.
Actual results may differ from these estimates.

Estimates are based on the management’s best knowledge of curent events and actions that the Corperation may undertake in the
future, Estimates and underlying assumptions ane reviewed on an ongoing basis, Revisions Lo accounting estimates ane recognized in the
period inwhich the estimates are revised and In ary future pericds affected.

Critical judgements in apphying accounting policies that hawve the mest significant effect on the amounts recognized in the financial
statemants include the follawing:

*  The use of the gaing concem basis (Note 2 (b))

Assumptions and estimation uncertainties that have a significant risk of resulting in a material adjustrment within the next financial year
include the following:

*  Measurement of stock-based compensation (Note 14).

#*  Allocation of shared costs amongst the Neptune group companies (Mote 5).

Also, the Corporation uses s best estimate to determine which ressarch and development ["RED") expenses qualify for RED tax credits
and in what amounts. The Corporation recognizes the tax credits cnee it has reasonable assurance that they will be realized. Recorded
tax credits are subject to review and approval by tax autharities and, therefore, could be different from the amounts recorded.

Significant accounting poliches:
The accounting policies sat out below have been appled consistently to all years presanted in thesa financial statements.

{a} Financial instruments;

{1 Mon-derivative finandal assets:

The Corparation initially recog lears and receivables on the date that they are originated. All other finandal assets (including
assets designated at falr value through profit or loss) are recognized initially on the trade date at which the Corporation becomes a
party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

The Corparation derecognized a financial astet when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the sisat expire, of it transfers
the I‘i‘hl! to receive the contractual cash flows on the financial ascet in & transaction in which dubstantially all the fidks and rewands
of ownership of the financial asset are transferred. Any interest in transferred financial assets that is created or retained by the
Corporation is recognized a5 a separate asset or lability,

Financial assets and labilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statements of financial position (balance sheets)
when, and anly when, the Corporation has a legal right to offset the amounts and intends either to sattle on a net bass or to
realine the asset and settle the lability simultanecushy.

The Corporation has the following non-derivative financial assets: cash, short-tenm investments and receivables,
Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are finandal asests with fived or determinabie payments that are not quated in an sctive markat. Such adsets
are recognized intially at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and
receivables are measured at amartized cost using the effective interest method, kess any impairment losses,

Loans and receivables comprise cash, trade and other receivables, and short-term investments with maturities of less than one
year,
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ACASTI PHARMA INC.

Motes to Financial Statements, Continued

Years anded February 28, 2011 and February 29, 2012

3

Significant accounting polides |continued):

{a) Financial instruments [continued):

i)

1]

(i}

i}

Nan-derivative finandal assets [continuad):
Loans and receivables foontinued):

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and highly liguid investments purchased three morths or less from maturity.
Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Corperation’s cash management are included as a
component of cash and cash equivalents for the purpose of the statements of cash flows.

Haon-terivative financial liabilities:

The Corporation initially recognizes debt securities issued and subordinated liabilities on the date that they are ariginated. All ather
financial liabilities (including liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss) are recognized initially on the trade date at
which the Corporation becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument,

The Corporation derecognizes a financial liabikty when its contractual ebligations are discharged or cancelled or expire.

Financial assets and kabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statements of financial position (balance sheets)
when, and only when, the Corporation has a legal right to offset the amounts and Intends either to settle on a net bass or to
realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

The Corporation has the following non-derivative financial liabilities: trade and ather payables and payable to parent corporation.
Such fimancial Eabilities are recognized initially at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial
recognition, these financial liabilities are measured at amortized cost wsing the effective interest method.

Share capital:

Comman shares

Class A common shares are dassified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of common shares and share
options are necognized a5 a deduction from equity, net of ary tax effects.

Preference share capital

Preference share capital is classified as equity if & i non-redeemable, or redeemable anly at the Corporation's option, and any
dividends are discretionary. Dividends theraon are recognized as distributicns within equity.

Preference share capital is classified as a liabilty i it is redeemable on a specfic date or at the option of the shareholders, or i
dividend payments are not discretionary. Dividends thereon are recognized as interest expense in profit o boss a5 accneed.

Compound financial instruments:

Compaund financial instrumants issusd by the Corporstion comprise convartible redeamable chares that can be convartad to share
capital a1 the option al the holder, and the number of shares to be ssued does not vary with changes in their fair value.

The liability component of a compound financial instrument is recognized initially a1 the fair value of & similar lability that does not
have an equity conversion option. The equity companent & recognized initially as the difference between the fair value of the
compaund finandal instrument as a whole and the fair value of the liability component. Any directly attributable transaction costs
are allocated to the liability and equity compenents in propartien to their initial Garrying ameunts,

Subsequent to initial recagnition, the liability companent of 3 compeund financial instrument s measured at amortized cost using

the effective mterest method. The equity component of a compound financial instrument ks not remeasured subsequent to initial
recognition.

Interest, dividends, |osses and gairs relating to the financial liabdity are recognized in profe or less, Distributions to the equity
halders are recognized in equity, net of any tax benefit.
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ACASTI PHARMA INC.

Motes to Financial Statements, Continued

Years anded February 28, 2011 and February 29, 2012

3

Significant accounting polides |continued):

{a) Financial instruments [continued):

[w} Other aquity instrurments:

Warrants, options and rights issued outside of share-based paymant transactions that do not meet the definition of a derivative
financial instrument are recognized initially at fair value in equity. Upon simultaneous issuance of multiple egquity instruments,
corskderation received, net of issue costs, is allocated based on their relative fair values. Equity instruments are not subseguently
remeasured.

b} Inventories:

el

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realizable value, The cost of raw materials and spare parts is based an the
weighted-average codt method. The codt of finished goods and work in progress is determined per project and includes axpenditunes
incurred in acquiring the inventories, production or conversion costs and other costs incurred in bringing them to their existing location
and candition, as well as preduction overheads based on normal aperating capacity.

Het realizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs of completion and selling
EXPENGES,

Equiprmant:

i1

Recognition and measurement:
Equipment is measured at cost less acoumulated deprediation and accumulated impairment losses,

Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset, The cost of se¥-constructed assets includes
the cost of materials and direct labour. any other costs directly attributable to bringing the assets to a working condition for their
intended use, the costs of dsmantling and removing the items and restodng the site on which they are located, and borrowing
costs on gualifying assets for which the commencement date for capitalimtion ks on or after March 1, 2010,

Purchased software that ks integral te the functionality of the related equipment is capitalized as part of that equipment.

When parts of an equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for as separate items (major components) of
equipment.

Gains and losses on disposal of equipment are determined by comparing the proceeds from disposal with the carrying amount of
eguipment, and are recognized net within “gther income or expenses™ in profit or loss.

Subsequent costs:

The cost of replacing a part of an equipment is recognized in the carrying amount of the item i it is probable that the future
econamic benefits embodied within the part will flew te the Corporation, and its cost can be measured rellably. The carnying
amount of the replaced part is deracognized. The cous of the day-to-day servicing of equipment are recognized in prafit o loss as
incurred.
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3. Significant accounting polices (continued):
ie)  Equipment (eantinued):
{iii} Depreciation:

Depreciation ks recognized in profit or loss on either a stralght-line basis or 3 declining basis over the estimated useful lives of each
part of an item of equipment, since this most closely reflects the expected pattern of consumption of the future economic benefits
embodied in the asset.

The estimated useful lives and rates for the current and comparative years ane as follows:

Astets Methad Period/Rate
Furniture and office equipment Diminishing balance 208 1o 20%
Computer equipment Straight-ine 3 -4 years

Depreciation methods, useful ives and residual values are reviewed at each financial year-end and adjusted prespectiveby if
appropriste.

{d) Intangibhe assets:

(Il Research and development;

Expenditure on research activities, wndertaken with the prospect of gaining new scientific or technical knowledge and
understanding. it recognized in profit or loss as incurred.

Development activities involve 2 plan or design for the production of new or cubstantially improved products and processes.
Development expenditure is capialized only if development costs can be measured reliably, the product or process is technically
ard commercially feasible, future economic benefits are probable, and the Corparation intends 1o and has sufficient resources to
complete development and to use of sall the asset. The expenditure capitalited includes the cost of materials, direct labour,
overhead costs that are directly attributable to preparing the asset for its intended use, and borrowing costs on qualifying assets
fiar which the commencement date for capitalization & on or after March 1, 2010. Other develapment expendituras are recognized
in prafit or loss as incurred,

Capitalized development expenditure 5 measured at cost bess acoumulated amort zatien and accumulated impalrmant losses. As of
the repaoming years presented, the Corporation has not capitalized any development expenditure,

(i) Orther intangible assats:
Licerntes

Licensas that are acquired by the Carparation and have finite useful lives are measured at eost less sccumulated amortization and
accumulated impairment losses.

Fatent costs

Patents for technologies that are no longer in the research phase are recorded at cost, Patent costs include legal fees to obtain
patents and patent application fees, When the technelogy is still in the research phase, those costs are expensed a5 Incumed,

(i} Subsequent expenditure:

Subsequent expenditure is capitalized only when it increases the future economic benefits embodied in the specific asset to which
it relates, All other expenditures, including expenditure on internally penerated goadwill and brands, are recognized in profit or loss
a5 incurred,
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3

Significant accounting polides |continued):

{d) Intangible assets (continued):

(k) Amortization:

Amortization is calculated over the cost of the asset less its residual value,

Amortization is recognized in profit or loss on a stralght-line basis ever the estimated useful lives of intangible assets from the date
that they are avalable for use, since this most dosely reflects the expedted pattern of consumption of the future economic benefits
embodied in the asset. The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative years are as follows:

Astets Period
License 14 years
Patents 20 years

(&) Leased assets:

Leases where the bessor retains the risks and rewards of ownership are treated as operating leases. Payments on operating lease
agreemments are recognized as an expense on a straight-dine basis over the lesss term. Assaciated costs, such as maintenance and
insurance, are expensed a5 incurred,

Impairment:

1

(]

Financial assets (including receivables):

A financial asset not carried at fair value through profit or loss is assessed at each reporting date to determine whether there is
objective evidence that it is impaired_ A& financial asset is impaired # objective evidence indicates that a loss event has ocourred
after the initisl recognition of the assat, and that the loss event had & negative effect on the estimated future cash flows of that
asset that can be estimated reliably,

Objective evidence that financial assets are impaired can inclede default or delinguency by a debtor, restrecturing of an ampunt
due to the Corporation on terms that the Corporation would not consider otherwise, indications that a debtor or suer will enter
bankruptoy, or the disappearance of an active market for a security,

The Corporation considers evidence of impairment for receivables at both a specfic asset and collective level, All individually
significant receivables are assesied for specfic impairment. All indisidually significant receivables found net to be spectfically
impaired are then collectively assessed for any impairment that has been incurred but not yet identified. Receivables that are not
individually significant are collectively assassed for impairment by grouping together receivables with similar risk characteristics.

In assessing colkective impairment, the Corporation uses historical trends of the probability of default, timing of recoveries and the
amount of loss incurred, adjusted for management’™s judgemeant a8 to whether current economic and credit conditions are such
that the actual losses are likely to be greater or less than suggested by historical trends.

An impairment loss in respect of a financal asset measured at amortized cost is calculated as the diference between its carrying
amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the asset's original effective interest rate. Losses
are recognized in prefit or bess and reflected in an allowance account against receivables. When a subseguent event causes the
amount of impairment lois to decrease, the decreass in impaiment ko i reversed through prafi of loss,

Non-financal assets:

The carrying armounts of the Corporation’s non-financial assets, other than inventories and tax credits receivable are reviewed at
each reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, then the asset's
recaoverable amount & estimated. For intangible assets that have indefinite useful lves or that are not yet available for uze, the
recoverable amount b estimated each year at the same time,
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Significant accounting polides |continued):

i} Impairment (continued):

i)

Nan-finandal assets (continued):

The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs to sell, In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time valee of money and the risks specific to the asset. For the purpose of impairment
testing, assets that cannot be tested individually are grouped together into the smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows
frarn continuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows of other aseets or groups of assets (the “cash-generating unit,
or CGU”).

The Corporation’s corporate assets do not generate weparate cash infleaws. If there is an indication that a carporate asset may be
impaired, then the recoverable amount & determined for the CGU to which the corparate asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognized if the carrying amount of an asset or its CGU exceeds its estimated recoverable amount.
Impairment kosses are recognized in prefit or koss.

Impairment losses recognived in prics years are assessed at each reporting date for any indications that the loss has decreased or
no longer exists. An impalrment loss 5 reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable
AMOUNL. AR impairment [oss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount
that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amamization, i no impairment less had been recognized.

i) Employes benefits:

0]

(]

Short-term employee bensfits:

Shoat-term employes benefit obligati are measured on an undiscounted basis and are expensed as the related service s
prosided,

A Mability ks recognized for the amount expected to be pald under short-tenm cash bonus or profit-sharing plans # the Corporation
has a present legal or constructive obligation 1o pay this amount as a result of past service provided by the emploves, and the
obligation can be estimated reliably.

Share-based payment traniadions:

The grant date Fair value of share-based payment awards granted to employees is recognized as an employee expense, with a
comespending increase in contributed surplys, over the period that the employees unconditionally become entitled to the awards.
The grant date fair value takes inte consideration market performance conditions when applicable, The amount recognized as an
expense 5 adjusted to reflect the number of awards for which the related service and non-market vesting conditions are expected
to be met, such that the amount ultimately recognized as an expense is based on the number of awards that do meset the related
service and non-market performance condions at the vesting date.

Share-based payment arrangements in which the Corporation receives goods or services as consideration for its own equity
instrumnents are accounted for as equity-settled share-based payment transactions, regardiess of how the equity instruments are
obtained by the Corporation.

Share-based payment fransactions indude those initiated by Neptune for the banefit of administrators, officars, employess and
consultants that provide services to the consolidated group. The Conporatien is under no obligation 1o settle these arrangements
and, therefore, also accounts for them as equity-settled share-based payment transactions,

The expense recognized by the Corporation under these arranpements comresponds to the estimated fraction of services that the
grantees provide to the Carporation out of the total services they provide to the Neptune greup of corparatians.
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Significant accounting polides |continued):

{g) Employes benefits (continued):
(iii} Termination benefits:

Termination benefits are recopnined as an expense when the Corporation ks committed demonstrably, without realistic possibdity of
withdrawal, to a formal detaded plan to either terminate employment before the normal retirement date, or to provide termination
benedits as a result of an offer made to encourage voluntary v, Ter 1 benefits for voluntary redundancies are recognized
a5 an expense if the Corporation has made an offer of voluntary redundancy, it is probable that the offer will be accepted, and the
number of scceptamces can be estimated reliabh. If bemefits are payable more than 12 months after the reporting year, then they ane
discounted to their present vale.

{h) Provisions:

L]

L]

A provision is recognized if. as a result of a past event, the Corporation has a present legal or constructive obligation that can be
estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the cbligation. Provisions are
determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the liability. The unwinding of the discount is recognized as finance cost.

[}

i}

DRerous contracts:

A prosision for onerous contracts is recognized when the expected benefits to be derived by the Corporation from a contract are
lower than the unavaidable cost of mesting its obligations under the contract. The pravision is measured at the present value af
the lewer of the expected cost of terminating the contract and the expected net ot of continuing with the contract. Before &
prowision is established, the Corporation recognizes any impairment loss on the assets associated with that contract.

Contingent liability:

A contingent liability i5 a possible obligation that arises from past events and of which the existence will be confirmed only by the
coourrencs of non-goourrence of one er more uncertain future events not within the control of the Corperation: or a present
obligation that arises from past events (and therefore exista), but B net recagnized because it is pot probable that a tramsfer of ue
of asets, provision of services or any other transfer of econsmic benefits will be required to settle the cbligation: or the amount of
the obligation cannot be estimated reliably.

Revenue:

i

Sale of goods:

Revenue from the sale of goods in the course of ardinary activities is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or
receivable, net of returns. Revenue is recognized when the significant risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred to the
baryer, recovery of the consideration is probable, the assocated costs and possible return of goods can be estimated reliably, there
ts mo continuing management invehaement with the goods, and the amount of revenue can be measured reliably. If it is probable
that discounts will be granted and the amount can ke measured reliably, then the discount is recognized as a reduction of revenue
&5 Uhe sales ane recognized,

The timing of the transfers of risks and rewards varies depending an the individual terms of the contract of sale,
Research services:

Revenue from research contracts is recognized in profit or loss when services to be provided are rendered and all conditions under
the terms of the underlying agreement are met.

Government grants:

Gevernment grante consiting of investment tax credite are récorded a2 a reduction of the related axpense ar coct of the asset scquired.
Gowernment grants are recognized when there is reasonable assurance that the Corporation has met the requirements of the approved
grant program and there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received,
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Significant accounting polides |continued):

Lt}

in

in)

Government grants [continuedl

Grants that compensate the Corporation for expenses incurred are recognized in profit or loss in reduction thereof on a systematic basis
in the same years in which the expenses are recognized. Grants that compensate the Corparation for the cost of an asset are recognized
in profit or loss on a systematic basis over the useful Iife of the asset,

Lease payments:

Payments made under operating leases are recognized in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. Lease
ingentives received are recognized as an integral part of the total lease expense, over the term of the lease.

Minimurn lease payments made under finance leases are apportioned between the finance expense and the reduction of the
autstanding liability. The finance expense i allocated to each year during the leass térm 30 as to produce & constant periodic rate of
interest on the remaining balance of the Nability,

Contingent bease payments are accounted for in the year in which they are incurred,

Foreign currency:

Transactions (n forelgn currencies are translated Into the functional currency at exchange rates at the dates of the transactions.
Muonetary assets and liabilities dencminated in foreign currencies at the reporting date are retransiated to the functional currency at the
exchange rate at that date. The foreign currency gain or boss on monetary items s the difference between amortized cost in the
functional currancy st the beginning of the period, adjusted for effective interest and payments during the period, and the amortized
cost in foreign currency translated at the exchange rate at the end of the reporting period. Nol v assets and liabilith
denominated in foreign currencies that are measured at fair value are retranslited to the functional currency at the exchange rate at
the date that the fair value was determined, Forelgn currency differences arising on retranslation are recognized in profit or loss, Non-
mgnetary items that are measured in terms of historical cest in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rate at the date of
the transaction.,

Finance income and finance costs:

Finance income comprises interest income on funds invested, Interest income is recognized as it accrues in profit or loss, using the
effective interest method.

Finance costs comprise interest expense on barrowings, unwinding of the discount on provisions, changes in the fair walue of financial
derivative liabilities at fair value through profit or lass. and impairment losses recognized on financial assets. Borrowing costs that ane
not directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset are recognized in profit or loss wsing the
effective interest method,

Forelgn currency gains and losses are reparted on a net basis.

The Corporation recognizes interest income as a component of investing activities and interest expense as a companent of financing
activities in the statements of cash flows.

Income tax:

Incame tax expense comprises current and deferred taces. Current and deferred taxes are recognized in profit or loss except to the
extent that they relate to a business combination, or items recognized directly in equity or in other comprehensive income.

Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or boss for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively
enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.

ABSNUAL REPORT 2013 37




ACASTI PHARMA INC.

Motes to Financial Statements, Continued

Years anded February 28, 2011 and February 29, 2012

3

Significant accounting policees [continued):

{n) Income tax {continued):

[}

ip

iq

)

Deferred tax is recognized in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial
reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxatien purposes, Deferred tax is not recognized for temporary differences arising from
the initial recagnition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not a business combination and that affects neither accounting nor
taxable profit or loss, Deferred tax s measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to temporary defferences when they
reverse, based on the laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date, Deferred tax assets and liabilities are
offsat if there is a legally enforceable right to offser current tax liabilites and assets, and they relate to income taces levied by the same
tax authority on the same taxable entity, o on different tax entitbes, but they intend to settbe current tax labilties and assets on a net
basis or their tax assats and liabilities will be realited simuRaneoudy. A deferred tax asset is recopnized for unused tax losses, L
eredits and deductible temporary ditferences, to the extent that it is probable that future tacable profits will be available against which
they can be utilized. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no lenger probable
that the related tax benefit will be realized.

Earnings par share:

The Conporation presents basic and diluted earnings per share ["EPS”) data for its Class A shares. Bask EPS b calculated by dividing the
profit or loss attributable te the holders of Class A shares of the Corporation by the weighted average number of commen shares
outstanding during the year, adjusted for own shares held, Diluted EPS is determined by adjusting the profit or loss attributable to the
holders of Class A shares and the weighted average number of Class A shares cutstanding, adjusted for cwn shares held, for the effects
of all dilutive potential commen shares, which comprise convertible debentures, redeemable shares, warrants, rights and share options
granted to employees.

Segment reporting:

An cperating segment is a companent of the Corporation that engages in business activities from which it may eam revenwes and incur
expenses. The Corporation has one reportable cperating segment: the development and commercialization of pharmaceutical
applications of its licensed rights for cardiovascular diseases. All of the Corporation’s assets are located in Canada.

Mew standards and interpretations not yet adopted:

A number af new standards, and amendments 1o standards and interpretations, ane not yet effective for the year ended February 28,
2013, and have not been appliad in preparing these financial statements.

{] Financial ingtruments:

In November 2009 the IASE issued IFRS & Ffinoncigl instruments [IFRS 9 (2009]), and in October 2010, the IASE publshed
amendments to IFRS 9 (IFRS # (2010}

IFRS 9 (2009] replaces the guidance n IAS 39 Fingnoiol Instruments: Recognition and Meosurement, on the classfication and
measurament of financial sssets. The Standard eliminates the existing A4S 39 categories of held-to-maturity, available-for-ale and
leans and receivable. Financial assets will be classified into ane of two categories on initial recognition:

& financial assets measured at amortized cost! or
® financial assets messured at Fair value.

Gains and losses on remeasurement of financial astets measured at fair value will be recognized in profit or loss, except that for an
investment in an equity instrument which is not held-for-trading. IFRS 9 provides, on initial recognition, an irmevocable election to
present all fair value changes from the investment in other comprehensive income [“C0LI°). The eledtion is available on an
indivgdual share-by-share basis. Amounts presented in OC| will not be reclassified to profit or loss at a later date,

IFRS 9 [2010) added guidance to IFRS 9 (2009) on the dassification and measurement of financial liabilities, and this guidance is
consistent with the guidance in 1AS 319, except as described below.
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Significant accounting policees [continued):

{q) MWewstandards and interpretations nat yet adopted (continued):

1

]

(i}

Financial instruments (continued):

Under IFRS 9 (2010), for financial liabilitees measured at fair value under the fair valee option, changes in fair value attributable to
changes in credit risk will be recognized in OCI, with the remainder of the change recognized in profit or loss. However, if this
requirement creates of enlarges an accounting mismatch in profit or less, the entire change in fair value will be recognized in profit
of boss, Amounts presented in OC) will not be reclassified o profit or loss at a later date,

IFRS 9 (2010) supersedes IFRS 9 (2009) and s effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2005, with early adootion
permitted. The extent of the impact of sdoption of IFRS 9 (2000 hat not yet been determined,

Fair value:

In May 2011, the |ASE published IFRS 13, Fair Value Measurement, which ks effective prospectively for annual periods beginning on
or after January 1. 2013, The disclosure requirements of IFRS 12 need not be applied in comparative infarmation for years before
indtial application.

IFRS 13 replaces the fair value measurement guidance contained in individual IFRS with a single source of falr value measurement
guidance. It defines fair value as the price that would be received to sell an asset or pald to transfer a llabiley in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date, i.. an exit price. The standard ako establishes a framework for
measuring fair value and sets out disclosure requirements for fair value measurements to provide information that enables
financial statement users to assess the methods and inputs used to develop fair value measurements and, for recurring Fair value
measuraments that use significant unobservable inputs [Level 3), the effect of the measurements on profit or leds or other
comprehensive income,

IFRS 12 explains how” to measure fair value when it s required or permitted by other IFRS, IFRS 13 does not introduce new
requirements to measure assets or llabllitees at fair value, nor does it eliminate the practicabdlity exceptions to fair value
measurements that currently exist in certain standards.

The Corporation intends to adopt IFRS 13 prospectively in its financial statements for the annual period beginning on March 1.
2013. The extent of the impact of adoption of IFRS 13 has met yet been determined.

Armendrnents 1o WS 19, Emploves Benefits:

In June 2011, the IASE published an amended version of 145 1%, Emploves Senefits, Adoption of the amendment is required for
annual periods beginning on or after lanuary 1, 2013, with early adoption permitted. The amendment is generally applied
retraspectively with certain exceptions.

The amendments change the definition of short-term employee benefits and also impacts termination benefits, which weuld now

be recognized at the earller of when the entity recognizes costs for a restructuring within the scope of 145 37, Provisions, and when
the entity can no longer withdraw the cffer of the termination benpefits,

The Corporation intends to adopt the amendrments in its financial datements for the annual period beginning on March 1, 2013,
The extent of the impact of adoption of the amendments has not yet been determined.

ArNUAL REPORT 2013 39




ACASTI PHARMA INC.

Motes to Financial Statements, Continued

Years anded February 28, 2011 and February 29, 2012

1,

Trade and other receivables:
February 28, Februsary 28,
2013 012
Trade receivables 5 175420 5 5446
Sales tames receivable 92,213 253,344
Accmued and other receivables 183,205 183,928
5 450,838 5 442,718

The Corporation’s exposure to credit and curréncy risks redated to trade and other receivables is presented in Note 17,

Related parties:

The Corperation was charged by Neptune for certain costs incurred by Meptune for the benefit of the Corporation and for rovalties, as
follows:

February 28, February 29,

2013 2012

Administrative costs ] 943,264 $ 545,728
Research and development costs, before tax credits GTE,430 731851
Boyalties (note 18) 450,342 257807

5 2,072,045 $ 1935385

Where Neptune incurs specilic incremental costs for the benefit of the Corporation, it charges those amounts directly. Couts that benafit
mare than one entity of the Neptune group ane being charged by allocating a fraction of costs incurred by Neptune that s commensurate to
the estimated fraction of services or benefits received by each entily for those items.

Theze charges do not represent all charges incurred by Neptune that may have benefited the Corporation, because, amangst others,
Meptune does not allecate certain common office expenses and does not charge interest on indebtedness. Also, these charges do not
necessarily represent the cost that the Corporation would gtherwise need to incur, should it not receive these services or benefits through
the shared resources of Neptune or receive financing fram Neptune,

Revenue from sales:

The Corporation recognized sales to Meptune in the amount of $41.000 during the yvear ended February 28, 2003 (ndl in 2012). Thesa
transactions are in the normal course of operations.

Revenue from research contracts:

The Corperation charged Meptune and a corporation under commen control for research and development work performed for their benefit
in the amount of 92,703 and 523,263, respectively, during the year ended February 29, 2002, {nil in 2013). These transactions are in the
normal course of operations,

Fayable to parent conparation:
Payable to parent conparation has no specified maturity date for payment or relmbursement and does not bear interest,
Ky management parsonnel compensation:

The key managemant parsonnel of the Corporation are the members of the Board of Directors and certain officers. They contral 3% of the
woting shares of the Corporation,

ArNUAL REPORT 2013 40




ACASTI PHARMA INC.

Motes to Financial Statements, Continued

Years anded February 28, 2011 and February 29, 2012

5, Related partbes (continued):
Eey management personnel compansation includes the following for the years ended Fabruary 28, 2013 and February 29, 20022

February 28, February 28,

2013 012

Short-term employes benefits 5 806,596 ] 698,382
Share-based compensation costs 1,504.471 546,939
5 2,311,067 5 124531

6. Tax credits recehable:

Tax credits comprise research and development investment tax credits receivable from the provincial government which relate to qualifiable
research and development expenditures under the applicable tax laws. The amounts recorded as receivables are subject to a government
tax audit and the final ameunts recelved may differ from those recorded.,

Unrecognized federal tax credits may be used to reduce future income tax and expire as follows:

plurl] 5 11,000
2030 40,000
031 45,000
032 431,000
2033 330,000
5 BST.000

. Inventories:
February 28, February 29,
2013 202
Rarw materials 4 44,772 % 57,950
Work in progress. 1,083 311,378
Finished goods 176,320 230,128
§ 222135 % 599,456

For the year ended February 28, 2003, the cost of sales of 5406,371 (55,077 in 2002) was comprised of inventory costs of 5391,821 (55,077 in
2002) which conststed of raw materials, changes in work in progress and finished goods. and other costs of $14,550 (nil in 2012
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3.

Equipment:
Furniture
and effice Computer
equipment equipment Tatal
Cost:
Balance at February 28, 2011, Febouary 29, 2012 and February 28, 2013 4 58706 5 3,691 5 62397
Acoumulated depreciation:
Balance at February 28, 2011 23,143 1345 24,488
Depreciation for the year 9,638 1107 10,745
Balance at February 29, 2012 32,781 2,452 35233
Depreclation for the year 5,952 934 7,886
Balance at February 28, 2013 5 w13 5 3.386 5 43119
Met carrying amounts:
February 28, 2012 £ 15925 L B ) £ 27164
February 28, 2013 18,5973 305 19,278

Depreciation expense for the years ended February 28, 2013 and February 29, 2002 has been recorcded in “peneral and admintstrative

expenies” in the statements of earnings and comprehensive loss.

Intangible assets:

Patents License Tatal

Cost:
Balanoe at Februarny 28, 2011 and February 29, 2012 % = 59,200,000 § 9,200,000
Additians 103,068 = 103,068
Balance at February 28, 2013 103,068 9.200,000 9303068
Acoumulated amortization:
Balance at February 28, 2011 = 1697620 16497620
Amartization for the year - 57,142 BET.142
Balance at February 29, 2012 - 2354762 2354762
Amortization for the year - 657,134 657,144
Balance at February 28, 2013 5 - 53,011,906 5 3,011,906
MNet carrying amounts:

February 28, 2012 s - 56,545,238 $6,845238

February 28, 2003 103,068 6185094 6291162

Amodtization expense for the years ended February 28, 2013 and February 29, 2012 has been recorded in “general and adminstrative

expenies” in the statements of earnings and comprehentive loss.
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10. Trade and other payables:

11.

February 28, February 25,

2013 2012

Trade payables LI 16 L 5 Ha524
Accrued labilithes and ather payvables 160572 170,098
Employes salaries and benefits pavable 221,196 276,323

% 706883 ¥ 995662

The Corperation’s exposure to currency and liguidity risks related to trade and other payables & presented in Note 17,

Capital and other components of equity

{3} Share capital:
Autharized capital stocks

Unlirited aumber of shares:

=

=

Class A shares, voting [ene vote per share), panticipating and without par value

Class 8 shares, woling (ten votes per share), non-participating, without par value and maximum annual nen-cumulative
dividend of 5% on the amount paid for said shares. Class B shares are convertible, at the holder’s discretion, into Class A
shares. on a one-for-one basis, and Class B shares are redeemable at the holder's discretion for 50.80 per share, subject to
certaln condithons.

Class C shares, non-voting. non-participating. without par value and maximum annual non-cumulative dividend of 5% on the
amaunt patd for sakd shares. Class C shares ane convertible, at the holder's discretion, inte Class A shares, on a one-for-one
basis, and Class C shares are redesmable at the holder's discretion for $0.20 per share, subject to eartain conditions.

Clads D and E shares, ﬂﬂﬂ-'ﬂﬁ[iﬂ', hﬁﬂ-plf[il!iﬂl['ﬁt, without par value and maxifmum I‘Mﬂlhl‘r moa-cumulitive dividend
betwesn 0.5% and 2% on the amaunt paid for said shares. Class D and E shares are convertible, at the holder's discretion, into
Class A shares, on a one-for-one basis, and Class D and E shares are redeemable at the holder’s discretion, subject to certain
conditions.

Class A shares
|classified as equity)

Murnber
autstanding At

Balance February 28, 2013 73,107,538 528922710
Balance February 29, 2002 72,636 BE8 28,614,550

On March 21, 2011, the gutstanding Class B and Class € shares, 5,000,000 and 260,000, respectively, were converted into Class A shares
by their holders on a 11 basis (the “Conversion”). Following the Canversion, the liability for convertible redeemable shares in the
amount of 54,052,000 was extinguished, and the number of issued and outstanding Class A shares of the Corporation was 63,434,444,
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11. Capital and other components of equity (continued):

{b) Private placement:

On February 13, 2012, the Corporation closed a private placement financing for gross procesds of 51,993,600 from Meptune and an
afficer of the Corporation.

Half of the proceeds came from Neptune for 750,000 comman shares at $1.33 per share. The other portion of the procesds came from
an officer of the Corporation for 750,000 commaon shares at 51,33 per share and warrants {the “Series 6% and “Series T warrants) to
purchase 750,000 additional shares. The warrants to purchase additional shares will be exercisable at a price of 51,50 per share for
36 manths fellowing thelr issue date, Total issue costs related to these transactions amounted to 515,000,

The warrants issued te the officer were determined to constitute stock-based compensation, Series 7 warrants are subpect to vesting In
equal installments over four semesters, subject to continued sendee and attainment of market (187,500 warranis) and non-rarket
performance conditions (187,500 warrants).

The fair value of the warrants that are not subject to market condition was estimated according to the Black-Scholes option pricing model
basad on the fallowing assumptions:

2012
Dividend yheld -
Risk-free intenest rate 1.13%
Estimated Iife 3 years
Expected volatility B5.771%

The fair valee of the warrants subject to market conditions was estimated uging a binomial model using the same assumptions az abave,
a5 well as factors that reflect the probability of the conditions being met,

The fair value of warrants granted was determined to be 50.83 per warrant, The Corperation recognized an expense of 593,372 for this
grant during the vear ended February 28, 2013 {$313,315 in 2012),

e} Warrants:

The warrants of the Corporation are compased of the following &t &t Fabroary 28, 2013 and Fabrueary 29, 2012:

February 28, Februsary 28,
2013 2012
Mumber MNumber
outstanding Amount autstanding Amaurnt
Equity

Series 4 warrants 5432350 & = 5785500 5 -

Private placement warrants
Series b warrants 375,000 306,258 375,000 306,288
Series 7 warants 375,000 100,399 375,000 To27
6182350 & 06,687 6585500 5 313315
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11. Capital and other components of equity {continued):

12.

13

() Warranis (oontinued):
- Saries 4 allows the holder 1o purchase one Cls A share for 50025 per share until Dctober B, 2013,

= Series & allows the holder to purchase one Class A share for 51.50 per share until February 10, 2015,

- Series 7 allows the holder to purchase one Class A share for 51.50 per share until February 10, 2015 subject to the achievement of

certain agreed upon and predefined milestones.

{d) Rights:

On July 5, 2011, the Corporation ssued 1o the helders of outstanding Class A shared transferable rights to subseribe to Class A dhares.
Each registered holder of Class & shares received one right for each Class A share held, representing a total of 64,454,444 rights.
Ten rights plus the sum of £1.25 are required to subseribe to one Class A share. On September 14, 2011, the offering expired
aversubscribed and, accordingly, the maximum number of shares available for issuance was issued for a total of 6,445,444 shares

representing gross proceeds of 58,056,805, Transaction costs related to the rights offering amounted to 5206, 788,

Personnel expenses:
February 28, Febiriary 29,
2043 2012
Salaries and other shom-term employes benefis 5 1485351 5 1507026
Share-based compendation 1,728,982 1,228466
5 3215373 4 2735492

Share-based compensation does not include S1BE,235 2012 - $92,105) of compensation to non-employee directors and consultants,

Finance income and finance costs:

{a] Finance income:

Februarny 28, Febriary 20,
2013 2012
Interest income ) 47,241 5 43143
(b} Finance costs:
February 28, Febrisary 29,
2013 2012
Interast charges E (2 6ES) 4 {8,962)
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14, Share-based payment:
Description of the share-based payment arrangements:
At Febiruary 28, 2013, the Corporation has the following share-based payment arrangernents:
{a) Corporation $todk-based compensation plan:

The Corporation has established a stock-based compensation plan for adminstrators, officers, employvess and consultants, The plan
provides for the granting of options to purchase Acasti Class A shares. The exercise price of the stock options granted under the plan i
nat bower than the dosing price of the shares listed on the eve of the grant. Under this plan, the maximum number of options that can
be issued equal the bower of 1,530,000 or 10% of Acasti Class A shares held by public shareholders, as approved annually by such
shareholders. On March 21, 2011, the Corporation’s Beard of Directors amended the incentive stock option plan [the “Plan”). The
amendments tothe Plan were approved by the shareholders on June 22, 2011. The main modification to the Plan consists of an increase
in the number of shares reserved for issuance of incentive stock oplions under the Plan to 6,442,444, On June 21, 2012, the
Corporation's shareholders approved the renewsl of the Corparation dock aption plan, under which the maximum number of aptions
that can be issued is 7,269,279, corresponding to 10% of the shares outstanding as of the date of shareholders’ approval. The terms and
conditions for acquiring and exercising options are &t by the Corporation’s Board of Directors, subject, among others, to the following
limitations: the term of the options cannot exceed ten years and every stock option granted under the stock option plan will be subject
to conditions no less restrictive than a minimal vesting period of 18 manths, a gradual and equal acquisition of vesting rights, at least on
a quarterly basis. The total number of shares Bsued to a single persen cannot exceed 5% of the Corperation’s total ssued and
outstanding shares, with the maximum being 2% for any ene consultant,

Activities within the plan are detailed s follows:

Yaur anded Yaar anded

—Fabiuby 23,23 February 25, 2002

‘Welghted ‘Welghted

Frerage average
LE - Humbar of AT Humbar ar
price epticdd price eptiend
Qutstanding a1 baginning of year ) 115 3,347 500 H] 025 800,000
Granted 4 2,350,000 142 2,650,000
[Emgreisad 120 (117 300] 2% (42, 500)
Forfeited 120 (363,750) 143 {70,000}
Outstanding at end of year 5 155 5,216,250 5 Li% 3,347,500
Exercizable at end of year 5 L4 1411 832 ¥ 58 117500
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14, Share-based payment [continued):

{a) Corporation stodke-based compensation plan (continued):

2013

n

Exerciesble ogtions ___
Waightad ‘Weighed
remaining Mumbar of Mumbar of Farage
cantractual ife eptice aptiont macive price

Esdreisn price autstinding autsanding andrciEbie
5025 -51.00 557 736,230 737 500 = hr-a ]
5L01-51.50 330 2,200,000 1,584 730 140
SL51-5200 145 100,000 100,000 180
$301-4250 397 1,090,000 139,582 111
5251 -53.00 1E1 70,000 - -
385 5,216,250 2,431,832 114

The options outstanding under the plan have a weighted average remaining lfe of 386 years 3¢ at February 28, 2013 (2002 —

4.78 years).

The fair value of optiens granted has been estimated accerding to the Black-Scholes option pricing model and based on the weighted

average of the following assumplions for options granted during the year:

2013 2012
Share price 5213 £1.39
Dividend = =
Risk-free interest 1.31% 1.86%
Estimated Ife 404 years 4,01 years
Expected volatility TLASS T6.28%

The weighted awerage of the fair value of the ogptions granted fo employess during the year ended February 28, 2013 & 51.14

(2012 - 50.79).

The weighted average share price at the date of exercise for share options exercised during the year ended Fabruary 28, 2013 was 52.44
(2012 - $1.62). The portion of services employees provided to the Corporation was estimated to be 50% of services provided to the
group (2012 - 43%). Accordingly, stock-based compensation recegnized under this plan amownted to 977,690 for the year ended

February 28, 2003 (2012 - $353,798).
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14, Share-based payment [continued):

{b) MHeptune stock-based compensation plan:

Neptune maintaing various stock-based compensation plans for the benefit of administrators, officers, employees and consultants that
provide services to its consolidated group, including the Corporation. The Corporation records as stock-based compensation expense a
partion of the expense being recorded by Neptune that is commensurate to the fraction of owerall services that the grantees provide
directly to the Corporation,

10

18]

Neptune sted options:

During the year ended February 28, 2013, Neptune granted 5,520,000 Neptune stock options to group emplovees (2012 -
1,575,000]. The options granted had a weighted averspge sxercise price of $3.23 par share and are vasting over & period of
18 rnanths, subject to continued senvice (2002 - $3.05). The fair value of the options granted has been estimated accarding to the
Black-5choles option pricing model based on the following weighted average assumptions:

2013 2012
Share price 4308 S2.82
Dividend yield 0.01% 0.02%
Risk-free interest rate 1L15% 1.17%
Estimated life 2.71 years 157 years
Expected volatility BE.1EM T2.52%

The weighted average of the fair value of the eptions granted to employees during the year is 51.15 per share (2012 - 51.23). The
portion of services provided to the Corparation was estimated to be 13% of the total services provided to the group (2012 - 25%),
representing stock-based compensation inthe amount of 663,484 for the year ended February 28, 2003 (2012 - $487.894).

Neptune-cwned NeuraBloPharm Inc. warrants:

During the year ended February 28, 2013, Neptune granted rights over 875000 NeuroBioPharm Ine. Series 2001-2 warrants to
group emplovees (2012 — 2,174,279). MeurcBisPharm Inc. i 8o 4 subsidiary of Neptune, The rights granted had a weighted
average exercise price of S0.75 per share (2012 - S0E7) and are vesting gradually until April 12, 2016, subject to continued senvice
of having reached four years of continued service for directors. The fair value of the rights granted has besn estimated according
ta the Black-5choles option pricing model based on the following weighted average assumptions:

2013 2012
Share price £0,10 50010
Dividend yield = =
Risk-free interest rate 1.21% 1.81%
Estimated life 2.95 years 3.0 years
Expected volatility 73.30% 75%

The weighted average of the fair value of the rights granted to employees during the year ended February 28, 2012 is 20.01 per
share (2012 - 50,01). The portion of services those employees provide to the Corporation was estimated to be 45% of the total
services they provide to the group (2012 - 34%), representing stock-based compensation in the amount of 524,025 for the year
ended February 28, 2013 (2012 - 527,931).
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14, Share-based payment [continued):

(b} MWeptune stock-based compensation plan (continued):

(i} Meptune-cwned Acasti warrants:

]

During the year ended February 28, 2003, no rights were granted over Neptune-cwned Acasti warrants or shares to group
employees (2012 - 590.000). The rights granted in the year ended February 28, 2002 had a weighted average exercise price of
41,42 per share and are vesting gradually until February 10, 2015, subject to continued service or having reached four years of
contineed service for directors. The fair value of the rights granted in 2012 has been estimated according to the Black-Scholes
option pricing model based an the weighted average of the following assumptions:

2012
Share price 5121
Dividend yield -
Risk-free interest rate 1.71%
Estimated life 238 years
Expected volatility 71.56%

The weighted sverage of the fair value of the rights granted to employees during the year ended February 29, 2012 i 50.51 per
share. The portion of services those employees provide to the Corporation was estimated to be B8% of the total serviess they
provide to the group (2012 - 65%), representing stock-based compensation in the amount of 5144438 for the year ended
February 28, 2013 (2012 - 597,633}

Neptune-cwned NeuraBioPharm Inc. call-options:

During the year ended February 28, 2013, Neptune granted 2,500,000 call-gptions on MeuroBioPharm shares to group employess.,
The call-gptions granted in the year had a welghted average exercise price of 50,75 per share, The falr value of the calloptions
granted during the year has been estimated according to the Black-Scholes option pricing model based on the weighted average of
the fellewing assurmptions:

2013
Share price 20010
Dividend yield -
Risk-free interest rate 1.12%
Estimated life 289 years
Expected volatility £4.71%

The weighted averape of the fair value of the call-options granted to employees during the year ended February 28, 2013 i nil. The
portion of services those employees provide to the Corparation was estimated to be 21% of the total services they provide to the
group, represanting stock-based compensation in the amount of $320 for the year ended February 28, 2013,
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14, Share-based payment [continued):

ib) Meptune @ock-based compensation plan [continued):

(¥l

Neptune-cwned Acasti call-options:

During the year ended February 28, 2013, Neptune granted 2,245,000 call-options on Acasti shares to group employess. The call-
options granted in the year had a weighted average exercise price of 52.75 per share. The fair value of the calloptions granted
during the year has been estimated according to the Black-Scholes option pricing model based on the welghted average of the
following assumptions:

2013
Share price 5269
Driwidend yield e
Risk-free interest rate 1.13%
Estimated life 2.8 years
Expected volatility £2.25%

The welghted average of the fair value of the call-options granted to emplovees during the year ended February 28, 2013 |5 51.39
per share. The pomtien of services those employees provide to the Corporation was estimated to be 26% of the total services they
provide to the group, representing stock-basad compensation in the amount of $107,190 for the year ended February 28, 2013,

15. Eamings (loss) per share:

The calculation of basic loss per share at February 28, 2013 was based on the net loss attributable to owners of the Corporation of
$6.892.360 (2012 - 56,500,933 ) and a welghted average number of common shares cutstanding of 72,754,436 (2012 - 67,231,636).

Diluted loss per share was the same amount as basic loss per share, as the effect of aptions would have been anti-dilutive, because the
Corperation incurfed |losses in each of the years presented. All outstanding options and warrants could potentially be dilutive in the future.

16 Income tanes:

Deferred tax expense:

2013 2012
Ovigination and reversal of temporary differances - 1,235,673 &  BESBAT
Change in unrecognized dedudtible temparary differences (1,235,673} (B55.847)
Deferred tax expense % = $ =
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16, Income taxes (continued):

Reconcilistion of effective tax rate:

2012 2012
Loss befare income taxes 5 168923600 5 {6.500.933)
Income tax at the combined Canadian statutary rate 5 (1,854,045) % (1,830,013)
Increase resulting from:
Change in unrecognized deductible temporary differences 1,235673 855,847
Non-deductible stock-based compensation L LREr a4
Permanent differences and ather 102 5490 52425
Total tax expanse 5 o & o

The applicable statutory tax rates are 26.9% in 2003 and 28.15% in 2012, The Corparation’s applicable tax rate is the Canadian combined rates
applicable in the jurisdiction in which the Corporation operates. The decrease is due to the reduction of the Federal income tax rate in 2003,

Unrecognized deferred tax assets:

At February 28, 2013 and February 29, 2012, the deferred tax assets. which have not been recognized in these financial statements because

the criteria for recognition of these assets were not met, were as follows:

2013 2012
Tax losses cartied farward S 2,570,000 & 1,B52,000
Research and development expenses 1,185,000 TG 000
Intangible asets 186,000 146,000
Other deductible temporary differences 40,000 38,000
Unrecognized deferred tax assets 5 3,981,000 5 2745000

As a1 Febouary 28, 2013, the amounts and expiry dates of tax attributes and temporary differences, which are available to reduce future years’

tamable income, were as follows:

Federal Provincial

Tax losses carried forward
208 4 714,000 % 714,000
2050 1627000 L621.000
2031 2,071,000 2,063,000
2052 2,262,000 2,241,000
2033 2,824,000 2,894,000
% 9,568,000 $ 9,533,000
Research and development expenses, without time limitation 5 3,954,000 5 4,570,000
Other deductible temporary differences, without time limitation 5 841,600 5  B41600
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17. Financlal instruments:

This note provides disclosures relating to the nature and extent of the Corporation’s exposure to risks arising from financial instruments,
ineluding credit risk, exchange risk, interest rate risk and liquidity risk, and haw the Corporation manages those risks.

[a) Credit risk:

Credit risk is the risk of a loss f a customer or counterparty to a financial asset faiks to meet its contractwal obligations, and arises
primarily from the Corporation’s trade recebvables, The Corporation may also hawe credit risk relating to cash and short-term
investments, which it manages by dealing only with highly-rated Camadian institutions. The carrying amount of financial assets, as
disclesed in the statesnents of financial position, represents the Corporation’s credit expesure at the reporting date. The Corparation’s
trade receivables and credit exposure fluctuate throughout the year. The Corporation’s average trade recsivables and credit exposure
during the year may be higher than the balance at the end of that reparting year,

The Corporation’s credit risk for trade receivables is concentrated, & the majority of its sales are to one customer. As at February 28,
2013, the Corporation had seven trade debtors. Most sales’ payment terms are s&t in accordance with industry practice. One customer
represents 374 of total trade accounts induded in trade and other receivables as at February 28, 2013,

Muost of the Corporation’s clients are distributors for 3 ghven territory and are privately-held enterprises, The profile and credit quality of
the Corporation’s retail customers vary significantly, Adverse changes in 3 customer’s financial position could cause the Corporation to
limit or discontinue conducting business with that customer. require the Corperation to assurme more credit risk relating to that
custemer’s future purchases or result in wncollectible accounts receivable from that customer. Such changes could have a material
atverse effect on business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows.

The Corporation’s extension of cedit 1o customers invohed considerable judgment and i based on an evalustion of each customer's
financial condition and payment histery, The Corporation has established various internal controls designed to mitigate credit risk,
including a credit analysis by the insurer which recommends customers’ credit limits and payment terms that are reviewed and
approved by the Corporation, The Corporation reviews periedically the insurer's masimum credit quotatien for each of its clients. New
chents are subject to the same process as regular clients. The Corporation has also established procedures to obfain approval by senior
management to release goods for shipment when custemers have fully-utilzed approved insurers credit limits. From time to time, the
Caorporation will tempararily transact with customers on a prepaymaent basts where circumstances warrant,

VWhile the Corperation’s credit controls and processes have been effective in mitigating credit risk, these controls cannet eliminate
eredit risk and there can be no assurance that these centrok will continue to be effective, or that the Corporation’s low credit loss
experience will continue,

Customers do not provide collateral in ﬂl:h!l'l,‘,t for credit, except in vhussal droumstances. Receivables from seleded customens ane
cowered by credit insurance, with coverage amount uswally of 100% of the inwoicing, with the exception of some customers under
specili: terms. The information available tll‘!‘ﬁ.lth the inturers i< the main alement in the decion process ta detenmine the credit limits
assigned to customers,

The Corperation provides fer trade receivable accounts te their expected realizable value as soon as the account is determined not to be
fully collectible, with such write-offs charged to earnings unkess the loss has been provided for in prior yeas, in which case the write-off
5 applied to reduce the allowance for doubtful accounts. The Corporation updates its estimate of the allowance for doubtful accounts,
based on evaluations of the collectability of trade receivable balances at each reporting date, taking into socount amounts which are
past due, and any available information indicating that a customer could be saperiencing liquidity or going concern problems.
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17. Financial instruments (continued):

1a)

L]

feh

Credit risk (continsed):

The aging of trade receivable balances and the allowance for doubtful sotounts &5 at February 28, 012 were b5 follows:

February 28,

2013

Current 5 185
Prast duse 0-30 days -
Past due 31-120 days 174,860
Prast due 121-180 days 2,845
Trade receivables 177,990
Less allawance for doubtiul accounts {2.570)
5 175420

The allowance for dowbtful accounts & for customer accounts over 121 days past due,
There was no movement in allowance for doubtful accounts in respect of trade receivables during the year ended February 28, 2013,
Exchange riskc

The Corporation i not exposed to any significant exchange risks, &5 it did not have any significant assets or liabilities denominated in
fareign curfencies.

Interast rate risk:

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctisate because of changes in markst
rates.

The Corporation’s exposure to interest rate risk as at the following dates is as follows:

February 28,

2013

Cash Short-terin fied interest rate
Short-tarm investments Short-term fixed interest rate
February 29,

2012

Cash Short-term fixed interest rate
Short-tarm investments Short-term fixed interest rate

The capacity of the Corperation to reinvest the shom-term amounts with equivalent retunn will be impacted by variations in short-tenm
feemd interast rates available on the market
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17. Financial instruments (continued):

id)

le}

Ligquidity risk:

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Corporation will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The Corporation manages
liquidity risk threugh the management of its capital structure and financial leverage. as outlined in Mote 20, It also manages liquidity risk
by continuowsly monitoring actual and projected cash flows. The Board of Directors reviews and approves the Corporation’s operating
budgets, and reviews the most important material transactions cutside the normal course of business.

The following are the contractual maturities of financial llabilities as at February 28, 2013 and February 29, 2012:

Fabruary 28,

2013

Required payments per year Carnying Less than 1to Mare than

{im thousands of dollars) Tatal amount 1 year 5 years 5 years
Trade and other payables 5 07 s a7 ] 07 5 - i -
Payable to parent corparation 1.210 1,210 1,210 - -
Royalties payable to parent corporation 20 529 529 = =
4 2446 5 2,446 S 2448 3 = 5 -

February 29,

2012

Reguired payments par year Carrying Less than 1te Mare than

{im thowsands of dollars) Tatal amount 1year Syears 5years
Trade and cther payables § 99 £ 9§ & Q8E 5 - H -
Payable 1o parent corparation 215 215 215 = =
Royalties payable to parent corporation 45 £ 49 - -
5 1,260 % 1280 & 1,260 % = -1 =

The Corperation plams to rely on the continued financial support of Neptune 10 pursue its eperations, including obtaining additional
funding. if necessary (see Note I (b))

Short-lerm invesiments

A% a1 February 28, 2013, short-term invesiments are with a Canadian financial institution having a high credit rating. Short-term

investments have a maturity date of May 8, 2013, a weighted average interest rate of 1.21% and are cashable at any time at the
dizcration of the Corperation, under certain conditions.

Az at February 39, 2012, short-term investments are with a Canadian financial institution having a high credit rating. Short-term
investments have maturity dates of September 26, 2002 and December 20, 2012, a welghted average interest rate of 0U86% and are
cashable at any time at the discretion of the Corperation, under certain conditions.
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1B

19

Commitments:
License agreement:

The Corporation is committed under a Boanse agreement 1o pay Neptune until the expiration of Neptune's patents on licensed intellsctual
property, a royalty equal to the greater of the minimum royalty payments and the swm of (a) in relation to sales of products in the licensed
field, the greater af: (i) 7.5% of net sales, and (i) 15% of the Corporation’s gross margin; and (b] 20% of revenues from sub-licenses granted
by the Corporation to third parties, Minimum rovalty payments were inftially a5 follows: year 1 - nil; year 2 - $50,000; year 3 < 200,000 year
4 - $300,000; year 5 - S$5900,000; and year & and thereafter - 51,000,000, Minimum royalties are based on contract years based on the
effective date of the agreemant, August 7, 2008, and were adjusted during the year ended February 28, 2013 as discussed below, After the
expiration of Neptune's patents on licensed intellectual property in 2022, the licerse agresment will automatically renew for an additional
15 years, during which peried royaities will be determined to be egual to half of those caloulated with the abeve formula,

The Corporation has the option to pay future royalties in advance, in cash or in kind, in whale or in part, based on an established economic
madel contained in the license agreement.

The Corporation can ako abandon 25 rights under all or part of the license agreement and consequently remove itself from the obligation to
pay all or part of the minimum royalties by paying & penalty equal to half of the next year's minimum royaliss,

In addition, the Corparation ks committed te have its produds manufactured by Neptune at prices determined according to different cost-
plus rates for each of the product cateperies under the license agreement.,

During the year ended February 28, 2013, the Corparation’s Board of Directors abandaned the rights to one of the licensed fields. which
relieves the Corparation of any further rovalty payments related to this licensed field, retroactively te August 7, 2011, Accordingly, the
minimum reyalty payments ase as fellows: year 4 - 5225,000; year 5 - 5700,000: and year & and thereafter - $750,000,

On December 4, 2042, the (orparstion announced that it entered into a Prepayment Agreement with Neptune pursuant to which the
Corporation exercised its option under the exclusive technodogy licenie agreement bo pay in advance all of the future rovalties’ payable under
the license agresment.

The value of the prepayment, determined with the assistance of outside valuations specialists, using the pre-established formula set forth in
the license agreement, amaunts to approximately $15,500,000, which will be paid through the ssuance of 6,750,000 Class A shares, issuable at
a price of $2.30 per share. upon the exercise of 3 warrant delvered to Meptune at the signature of the Prepayment Agreament,

The prepayment and the ssuance of the shares to Neptune are subject to the approval of the TSX Venture Exchange and of the disinterested
sharehalders of the Corporation a1 the next annual mesting of shareholders of the Corporation. The transaction will be sccounted for when
such approval is obtained.

Fesearch and development ogreements:

In the normal course of business, the Corparation has signed agresments with various partners and supgliers for them to execute ressarch
projects and to produce and market certain products, The Corporation has reserved certain rights relating to these projects.

The Conporation initiated research and development projects that will be conducted over a 12 to 24 month period for a total cost of
54,168,000, of which an amount of 52, 367,000 has been paid to date. As at February 28, 2013, an amcunt of 556,000 is included in "Trade
and other payables” in relation to these projects.

Determination of fair vak

Certain of the Corparation”s sccounting policies and disclosures require the determination of fair value, for both financial and non-finangal
assers and liabilities. Fair values have been determined for measurement ]ndfnr dischosure pﬂfpﬂﬁﬂw on the Inllc-win; methods.

Financial assets ond ebiities:
In establishing fair value, the Corporation uses a falr value hierarchy based on levels as defined below:
» Level1: defined as obsenvable inputs such as quoted prices in active markets.
# Level2: defined a8 inputs other than quoted prices in active markets that are either dirsctly of indirectly observable,

# Level 3 defined as inputs that are based on little or no little observable market data. therefore requiring entities to develop their cwn
assumptions,
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19,

21.

Determination of falr values (continued):
Financial assets and Nobiities feontinged):

The Carparation has determined that the arr'(ngvaluu ol its shan-term financial aswsts and liabilities approxirmate thair tair value _‘JHEH the
shost-term nature of these nstruments.

Shore-based payment transactions;

The fair value of the employee stock options i measured based on the Black-5choles valuation model, Measurement inputs indude share
price on measurement date, exercise price of the instrument, expected volatility (based on weighted average historic volatility adjested for
changes expected due te publicly available information, when the shares have not been traded on a recognined exchange for a period of time
that is commensurate with estimated ke of option, it is estimated using histerical volatility of comparable corporations), weighted average
expected |ife of the instruments (based on historical expersnce and general cption holder behaviour), expected dividends, and the risk-free
interest rate [based on government bonds). Service and non-market performance conditions attached to the transactions, if any, sre not
taken into account in determining fair value.

Capital management:

Since inception, the Corporation’s objective in managing capital is to ensure sufficient Bquidity to finance its research and development
activities, general and administrative exp P 5 associated with intellectual property protection and its overall capital expenditures.
The Corporation s not exposed to external requirements by regulatory agencies regarding its capital,

Since the beginning of its operations, the Corporation has financed its liquidity needs from funding provided by its parent corporation and
fram the exercie of warrants that were distributed to its parent corparation’s sharehalders, from a rights offering and from the Bsuance of
stock-based compensation o employees, The Corporation attempls to oplimize its liquidity needs with non-dilutive sources whenewer
possible, including from research and development tax credits,

The Corporation defines capital to include tatal sharehodders” equity.
The Corporation’s policy is to maintain a minimal level of debt.

As of February 28, 2013, cash amounted to 51,196,568, short-term investments amounted to 53,588,227 and tax credits receivable
amounted to 5335501, for a total of 55,120,296, During the year ended February 28, 2013, the Corporation ebtained proceeds of 5229477
from the exercise of previously Bsued warrants and options. As stated in Note 2, the Corporation expects to raise additional financing from
MNeptune and other sources to pursue its operations within the next 12 months and beyvond.

Operating segments:
The Corporation has one reportable operating segment: the development and commerdalization of pharmaceutical applications of its
licensed rights for cardiovascular diseases.

Al of the Corporation’s assets are located in Canada and inthe United States,

The Corporation’s sales are attributed based on the customer's area of residence. All of the sales, except for the sale made to Meptune in the
amount of 541,000, were made to the United Suates.

During the year ended Febreary 28, 2013, the Corporation realized sales amounting to 4640,575 from one customer accounting for £9% of
sales,
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